
  1 

 

Agenda 

 
Contact Officer: Steve Culliford 
Tel: 07895 213735 

 

E-mail: steve.culliford@southandvale.gov.uk  
Date: 3 August 2022 
Website: www.southoxon.gov.uk 

 
 

 
A MEETING OF THE 
 

Cabinet 

 
WILL BE HELD ON THURSDAY 11 AUGUST 2022 AT 6.00 PM 
FIRST FLOOR MEETING SPACE, 135 EASTERN AVENUE, MILTON PARK, 
OX14 4SB 
 
To watch this virtual meeting, follow this link to the council’s YouTube channel.   

 
Members of the Cabinet 

Member Portfolio 

David Rouane (Chair) Leader of the Council 

Robin Bennett (Vice-Chair) Cabinet member for economic development and 
regeneration, and deputy leader (statutory deputy leader 
during the following months: May, July, September, 
November, January and March) 

Maggie Filipova-Rivers 
(Vice-Chair) 

Cabinet member for community wellbeing, and deputy 
leader (statutory deputy leader during the following 
months: April, June, August, October, December and 
February) 

Pieter-Paul Barker Cabinet member for partnership and legal and democratic 

Sue Cooper Cabinet member for environment, climate change and 
nature recovery 

Andrea Powell Cabinet member for corporate services, policy and 
programmes 

Leigh Rawlins Cabinet member for finance and property assets 

Anne-Marie Simpson Cabinet member for planning 
 

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These 
include large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read.  For this or any 
other special requirements (such as access facilities) please contact 
the officer named on this agenda.  Please give as much notice as 
possible before the meeting. 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/c/SouthandValeCommitteeMeetings


  2 

 

ITEMS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PUBLIC PRESENT 
 

Reports considered with the public present are available on the council’s website. 

 

1  Apologies for absence   
 

To record apologies for absence.   

 
2  Minutes  (Pages 4 - 8) 

 
To adopt and sign as a correct record the public minutes of the Cabinet meeting 
held on 23 June 2022.   

 
3  Declaration of interests   

 
To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests, other registrable interests 
and non-registrable interests or any conflicts of interest in respect of items on the 
agenda for this meeting.   

 
4  Urgent business and chair's announcements   

 
To receive notification of any matters which the chair determines should be 
considered as urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the 
matters urgent, and to receive any announcements from the chair.   

 
5  Public participation   

 
To receive any questions or statements from members of the public that have 
registered to speak.   

 

CABINET DECISIONS 

 

6  Recommendations and updates from other committees   
 

To consider any recommendations to Cabinet from other committees.   

 
7  Active communities strategy  (Pages 9 - 16) 

 
To consider the head of policy and programmes’ report.   

 
8  Car park order and policy  (Pages 17 - 62) 

 
To consider the head of development and corporate landlord’s report.   

 
9  Exclusion of the Public   

 
To consider whether to exclude members of the press and public from the meeting 
for the following item of business under Part 1 of Schedule 12A Section 100A(4) of 



  3 

 

the Local Government Act 1972 and as amended by the Local Government (Access 
to Information) (Variation) Order 2006 on the grounds that:  
(i) it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 

3, Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, and  
(ii) the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 

disclosing the information.   

 
 

ITEMS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PUBLIC EXCLUDED 
 

The council hereby gives notice that it intends to hold part of this Cabinet meeting in 
private to consider the following items for the reasons set out in the ‘exclusion of the 
public’ item above.  These reports are not available on the council’s website. 

 

10  Minutes  (Pages 63 - 64) 
 

To adopt and sign as a correct record the exempt minutes of the Cabinet meeting 
held on 23 June 2022.   

 
 
 
Patrick Arran 
Head of Legal and Democratic 

 
 



 

 1 

Minutes 

OF A MEETING OF THE 

 

Cabinet 

 
Held on Thursday 23 June 2022 at 6.00 pm 
at 135 Eastern Avenue, Milton Park, OX14 4SB 
 

Present in the meeting room: 
Cabinet members: Councillors David Rouane (Chair), Maggie Filipova-Rivers (Vice-Chair), 
Robin Bennett, Sue Cooper and Leigh Rawlins 
Officers: Steve Culliford (Democratic Services Team Leader) 
 

Remote attendance:  
Cabinet member: Councillor Pieter-Paul Barker   
Officers: Patrick Arran (Head of Legal and Democratic), Harry Barrington-Mountford (Head 
of Policy and Programmes), Jake Bassett (Senior Urban Design Officer), Jayne Bolton 
(Community Wellbeing Manager), Adrian Duffield (Head of Planning), Marta Bou 
Fernandez (Senior Urban Design Officer), Simon Hewings (Head of Finance), Jeremy 
Lloyd (Broadcasting Officer), Suzanne Malcolm (Deputy Chief Executive - Place), Steve 
May (Affordable Housing Team Leader), Adrianna Partridge (Deputy Chief Executive - 
Transformation and Operations), Lewis Pitt (Affordable Housing Officer), Mark Stone 
(Chief Executive) and Nicky Wyer (Didcot Garden Town Team Leader)  
Guests: Debby Hallett (Vale of White Horse District Councillor and Cabinet member) 
 
 

104 Apologies for absence  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Andrea Powell and Anne-Marie 
Simpson.   
 

105 Minutes  
 
RESOLVED: to approve the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 7 April 2022 as a 
correct record and agree that the Chair signs them as such. 
 

106 Declaration of interests  
 
None 
 

107 Urgent business and chair's announcements  
 
None 
 
 
 

Page 4

Agenda Item 2



 

 2 

108 Public participation  
 
One member of the public had registered to address Cabinet.   
 
Vale of White Horse District Councillor and Cabinet member Debby Hallett spoke in 
support of the Joint Design Guide.   
 

109 Recommendations and updates from other committees  
 
Cabinet received and noted updates from other committees.   
 
The Joint Audit and Governance Committee had approved the 2020/21 statement of 
accounts and annual governance statement at its meeting on 24 May 2022.   
 
Cabinet also noted that the Joint Scrutiny Committee had met on 20 June 2022 to discuss 
the Joint Design Guide.  The committee had welcomed the new guide and suggested 
some changes.   
 

110 Didcot Garden Town - new delivery plan  
 
Cabinet considered the head of policy and programmes’ report.  This set out a revised 
delivery plan for Didcot Garden Town.  The report sought approval of a revised delivery 
plan and associated budget, to enable a more focused plan to bring forward community 
improvements, assist recovery of the garden town area following the pandemic, and to 
address the climate emergency.   
 
To do this South Oxfordshire and the Vale of White Horse district councils were working 
together, drawing funds from their Council-approved reserves.  The initial estimate was 
£825,000, with £660,000 being from South Oxfordshire, and £165,000 from the Vale.  
Cabinet was asked to authorise the movement of the council’s funds into the budget year 
2022/23.  Any unspent funds at the financial year end would be carried forward into 
following years, with agreement of the section 151 officer in consultation with the 
appropriate head of service.   
 
Cabinet welcomed the new delivery plan, which was simpler and more deliverable than its 
predecessor, and would provide Didcot with facilities it deserved.  Once the initial funding 
had been approved and a team established, the next step would be to timetable the 
delivery of the plan, working with Oxfordshire County Council on major infrastructure 
projects.  This should help address road congestion, particularly in the town centre.  There 
would be a walking and cycling strategy also to reduce reliance on private car journeys.   
 
RESOLVED to: 
 
(a) approve the revised delivery plan for Didcot Garden Town, as shown in Appendix 2 to 

the head of policy and programmes’ report to Cabinet on 23 June 2022; and  
 
(b) agree a supplementary estimate to the 2022/23 revenue budget of £660,000, fully 

funded from the grant monies held in the council's reserves, thereafter, to be 
managed by the relevant budget holder to deliver the approved delivery plan.   

 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



 

 3 

111 Didcot Northern Perimeter Road - Phase 3 (NPR3)  
 
Cabinet considered the head of policy and programmes’ report regarding phase 3 of the 
Didcot Northern Perimeter Road, one of the infrastructure projects in the Didcot Garden 
Town Delivery Plan approved by Cabinet earlier in the meeting (see minute 110).  The 
road would extend the existing perimeter road, joining Abingdon Road with Hadden Hill.   
 
In 2016 the government had provided £6.2 million to fund infrastructure works to support 
the delivery of Didcot Garden Town.  The report sought authority to transfer funds currently 
held by the council to Oxfordshire County Council, the highways’ authority responsible for 
delivery of the project.   
 
Cabinet supported the proposal for as it would contribute to the long-term vision and 
masterplan for Didcot Garden Town, improving connections in the east-west traffic 
corridor.  The project would be a catalyst for other improvements required in the town 
centre, which aimed to encourage a shift away from reliance on the private car and a move 
towards other modes of transport.  The transfer of funding would enable the County 
Council to progress the scheme, consequently enabling the viability of other projects within 
the Didcot Garden Town Delivery Plan.   
 
RESOLVED to:  
 
(a) authorise the section 151 officer, or in their absence, the chief executive, to agree 

funding agreement terms which are equal to, or greater than, those imposed by the 
existing grant conditions to which the council is subject, for the transfer of funds to 
Oxfordshire County Council to support the delivery of the Didcot Northern Perimeter 
Road Phase 3 (NPR3); and  

 
(b) agree the addition of Didcot Northern Perimeter Road Phase 3 (NPR3) (fully funded 

by government grant funding) to the approved capital programme, in order to 
facilitate the transfer of funds to Oxfordshire County Council.   

 

112 Design guide  
 
Cabinet considered the head of planning’s report on a Joint Design Guide.  Following the 
Council’s decision to pursue a joint local plan with Vale of White Horse District Council, 
work had commenced on a joint design guide.  If adopted, the joint design guide would 
become a supplementary planning document to the council’s existing, adopted local plan, 
and also to the joint local plan once that had been adopted.  It would guide the public when 
designing new development and would assist officers and members of the Planning 
Committee in determining planning applications.   
 
A draft joint design guide had been subject to public consultation.  The report set out the 
consultation results and proposed changes to the design guide.  Cabinet was asked to 
adopt the Joint Design Guide.   
 
Cabinet welcomed the new Joint Design Guide, believing that it would provide clearer 
guidance to all users.  In particular, Cabinet was pleased that the new guide was an 
interactive, online publication, which could be updated quickly as planning legislation 
changed.  Cabinet also welcomed the changes suggested following the Joint Scrutiny 

Page 6

Agenda Item 2



 

 4 

Committee meeting, which had been published as a supplement alongside the Cabinet 
agenda.   
 
It was further noted that the Climate and Ecological Emergencies Advisory Committee 
would review the new guide once adopted.  Any suggested improvements could be 
implemented by the head of planning under delegation if they were only minor changes.  In 
the case of major changes, these would have to be subject to the next review of the guide 
and be subject to public consultation.  However, Cabinet noted that any such changes 
would require the Vale’s agreement also, as it was a joint guide.   
 
Cabinet thanked the officers and councillors involved in this project for their work.   
 
RESOLVED to:  
 
(a) adopt the Joint Design Guide for South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse district 

councils as a supplementary planning document, subject to the changes set out in 
the amendment note following the Joint Scrutiny Committee on 20 June 2022; and  

 
(b) authorise the head of planning, in consultation with the Cabinet member for planning 

(South) and the Cabinet member for corporate services and transformation (Vale), to 
make necessary minor amendments or typographical corrections to the 
supplementary planning document prior to publication and undertake any factual 
updates thereafter (e.g. web links and live neighbourhood plan maps).   

 

113 Corporate plan performance monitoring report quarter 4 and 
annual review report 2021/22  
 
Cabinet considered the corporate plan performance monitoring report for quarter 4 
2021/22, together with the annual review report for 2021/22.   
 
Cabinet thanked officers and the Cabinet member for the reports.  They showed 
transparency and accountability for the council’s performance.  The annual review showed 
areas where the council had achieved, such as affordable housing delivery and nature 
recovery work, and where further work was needed during the corporate plan period to 
2024, such as the diversity and inclusion strategy that was due before Cabinet in the 
summer.  Progress had also been made in attracting external funding, which had allowed 
the council to rebuild its finances and support service delivery.   
 
RESOLVED: to note the corporate plan performance monitoring report for quarter 4, 
2021/22 and the annual review report for 2021/22.   
 

114 Exclusion of the Public  
 
RESOLVED: to exclude members of the press and public from the meeting for the 
following item of business under Part 1 of Schedule 12A Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 and as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) 
(Variation) Order 2006 on the grounds that:  
(i) it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of 

Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, and 
(ii) the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 

disclosing the information. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



 

 5 

 

115 Application for s106 funding - Thame and District Housing 
Association  
 
Cabinet recommended Council to approve funding to award a grant for an affordable 
housing project.   

Page 8

Agenda Item 2



 

 

Cabinet Report 

 
Report of Head of Policy and Programmes 

Author: Jayne Bolton 

Telephone: 07717 271911 

E-mail: jayne.bolton@southandvale.gov.uk  

Wards affected: All 

 

Cabinet member responsible: Councillor Maggie Filipova - Rivers 

Tel:  07850 141623 

E-mail: maggie.filipova-rivers@southoxon.gov.uk  

To: CABINET 

Date: 11 August 2022 

 

 

Active Communities Strategy 

Recommendation 

That Cabinet approves the Active Communities Strategy attached at appendix one. 

 

Purpose of Report 

1. To seek Cabinet’s approval of the Active Communities Strategy to support the 
wellbeing of South Oxfordshire’s communities. 

Corporate Objectives  

2. This strategy contributes to the following corporate priorities: 

 Celebrate, protect and enhance our natural assets, including the River Thames and 
the Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) and their setting, promoting our 
rural district for tourism, leisure and wellbeing.  

 Work in partnership with the Earth Trust, Chilterns Conservation Board, North 
Wessex Downs AONB, the Environment Agency and others to improve access to 
green spaces in and around our towns, reinforcing access to nature as a priority for 
community well-being. 

 Plan for communities connected by walking & cycling networks, with sustainable, 
accessible and affordable public transport and reliable broadband, learning the 
lessons from the Covid-19 experience and enabling more home working.  

 Launch a new Community Wellbeing Strategy to encourage and support culture, 
leisure and the arts. 

Page 9

Agenda Item 7

mailto:jayne.bolton@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:maggie.filipova-rivers@southoxon.gov.uk


 

 

Background 

3. The Active Communities Strategy will sit beneath the overarching Community Wellbeing 
Strategy as just one in a suite of supporting strategies, such as the Leisure Facilities 
Strategy and the Arts Development Strategy, and addresses many of the wellbeing and 
health related priorities of the council’s Corporate Plan. The strategy sets out how the 
Council plans to improve the health and wellbeing of residents and the key role the 
council plays in providing high quality active opportunities for communities, alongside its 
partners. 

Considerations  

4. Approval of this strategy will enable the council to target resources, to improve the 
physical, mental and social wellbeing of South Oxfordshire’s communities, at a time 
when it has never been more important following the detrimental effects of the 
pandemic on residents’ wellbeing on all levels. 

5. The proposed vision for the strategy is to ‘Be Active, Be Healthy, Be Happy’ and the 
key aims are to: 

 To make our districts a better place to live by enabling communities to improve 
the quality of their own lives and encourage local initiatives that make a real 
difference.  

 To focus on partnership working to increase the range and awareness of 
opportunities available across the districts for residents to take part in. We will 
utilise resources for maximum benefit, ensuring value for money in all that we 
do.  

 To reduce inactivity and minimise the impact that may be caused by health 
inequalities within our communities by offering support that is accessible for 
everyone 

6. In order to meet these key aims six themes are included in the emerging delivery plan; 
these are: 

i. Inclusively enable everyone to be active 

ii. create healthier communities through walking and cycling 

iii. maximise the potential of our natural environment 

iv. building the skills base of our communities 

v. effective communication, promotion and consultation 
 

vi. collaborative partnerships and funding advice. 

 
Climate and ecological impact implications 

7. The promotion of more active travel opportunities and making better use of our natural 
resources and open green spaces will have a positive impact on the climate change 
agenda. 

Page 10

Agenda Item 7



 

 

Financial Implications 

8. Implementation of the strategy will, in the first instance, be covered by existing 
resources within the active communities’ team, but future consideration will need to be 
given to the emerging delivery plan to prioritise resources.  Currently external funding 
assists to deliver activities in the short term, and the intention is to seek additional 
external funding in the future by working jointly with partners. 

9. Any council decision that has financial implications must be made with the knowledge 
of the council’s overarching financial position. For South, the position reflected in the 
council’s medium-term financial plan (MTFP) as reported to Full Council in February 
2022 showed that the council is due to receive £2.1 million less in revenue funding than 
it plans to spend in 2022/23 (with the balance coming from reserves).  

10. This funding gap is predicted to increase to over £3 million by 2026/27. As there 
remains no certainty on future local government funding, following the announcement 
of a one-year spending review by government, and as the long-term financial 
consequences of the Coronavirus pandemic remain unknown, this gap could increase 
further. Every financial decision made needs to be cognisant of the need to address 
this funding gap in future years. 

 

Legal Implications 

11. Supporting the Active Communities Strategy neither imposes nor infers any additional 
obligations on the council, and it is therefore considered that there are no legal 
implications. 

Risks 

12. The only risk considered pertinent to supporting the strategy would be a reputational 
one amongst partner organisations if we were not to deliver a range of interventions 
that improve the health and wellbeing of our communities, particularly countywide 
funded projects delivered in partnership. 

Other implications 

13. There are not considered to be any other implications. 

Conclusion 

14. That Cabinet notes the approach being proposed to meet a number of corporate 
objectives and approves the Active Communities Strategy. 

 

Appendices 

 Appendix One – Active Communities Strategy 2022 

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 7



       

Active Communities strategy 
Be Active, Be Healthy, Be Happy 

Introduction 
 
This Active Communities strategy sets out how the Councils’ plan to improve the health 
and wellbeing of our residents and the key role we play in providing high quality active 
opportunities for our communities, to contribute to tackling inactivity and addressing the 
inequalities that challenge our society. 
 
The diagram below illustrates where this strategy sits within the overarching policy 
framework for health and active communities within Oxfordshire. 

 

 
 
Vision and aims 
 
The councils’ vision is for all our residents to be active, be healthy and be happy.  The 
focus of this strategy is sustainability, supporting and encouraging people to improve 
their physical, mental and social wellbeing and enabling community organisations to 
work together to improve health and wellbeing at a very local level. 
Our aims are to: 
 

 Enable individuals and communities to improve the quality of their own lives.  

 Encourage and support local initiatives that make a real difference in addressing 
wellbeing and inequalities. 

 Increase the range and awareness of active opportunities available across the 
districts for individuals and communities to take part. 
 

 
 

Page 12

Agenda Item 7



       

 
We will maximise active opportunities within our local communities by 
making use of: 

 

 

Our six themes 

We have identified six key themes in support of our vision and aims and will use these to 

guide and shape our active communities delivery plans in the coming years. 

 

Social, Community and Leisure Activity Infrastructure 
For the purposes of this strategy, social, community and leisure activity 

infrastructure is defined as community infrastructure which supports 
exercise, entertainment or physical activities.  E.g. playground 
equipment, outdoor gyms, social activities/games equipment or 

skateparks 

Green Spaces 

For the purposes of this strategy, green space is defined as open 
space – an area of grass, trees, or other vegetation - available for 

recreational or aesthetic purposes. 

Blue Spaces 

For the purpose of this strategy, blue space is defined as outdoor 
environments – either natural or manmade – that prominently feature 

water, either to be in, on or for sensory benefit.  

Theme 1 – Enabling everyone to be active 

We will ensure sustainable, inclusive, 
local interventions to support residents 
to keep healthy, both physically and 
mentally, aiming to remove many of the 
traditional barriers to activity, such as 
cost and location.  

We will offer programmes and initiatives 
that focus on target groups, including 
children, older people, disabled people, 
those with long-term health conditions, 
people with mental health issues and 
those for whom cost may be restrictive. 

Example activity - Providing activities for young people in partnership with Active 
Oxfordshire, local schools, sports clubs, our parks team, children’s centres, and leisure 
providers. Projects will include school holiday activities, family orienteering events and 
a targeted programme of discounted and free activities for children eligible for free 
school meals. 

Page 13

Agenda Item 7



       
  

      

 

  

Theme 2 - Create healthier communities through walking and cycling  

We will increase opportunities to walk 
and cycle safely using local 
infrastructure and networks of footpaths 
and cycleways across our district. We 
will promote the benefits of staying 
active and will look to ensure the 
provision of activities within a 20-minute 
journey time where possible. 
 

 

We will introduce schemes that 

encourage healthy walks as part of daily 

life and look at ways of providing bicycles 

to those who might not otherwise be able 

to access them. We will encourage bike 

borrowing schemes to enable more 

people to cycle regularly and introduce 

walking trails and way finding routes to 

encourage more people to take local 

journeys on foot. 

Example activity - Promoting existing digital apps and websites that provide 
information about the network of footpaths and cycleways that we have across the 
districts and provide links to these on our website for easy access. 

Theme 3 – Maximise the potential of our natural environment 

Access to green and blue spaces is 
considered important for mental health 
and wellbeing.  We will promote our 
surroundings and encourage all 
residents to be active where they live. 
We will use our natural infrastructure to 
provide a place for physical activity, 
relaxation, social interaction, and 
community events. 

We will promote our green and blue 
resources as locations to host activities, 
including water sports, wellbeing walks 
and nature themed activities.  We will 
create more community gardens in our 
towns and villages to maximise the 
benefits of growing fruit and vegetables 
to be shared among the local community. 
We will work with parishes to support the 
provision of allotments for residents 
where possible. 

Example activity - Promoting community gardening as a way of getting fit and feeling 
good, promote healthy eating and links with food workshops contributing to a healthy 
diet as well as promoting the activity involved in gardening. 

Theme 4 – Building the skills base of our communities 

We will develop the skills base of our 
communities, working with the local 
workforce and communities to make it 
sustainable. Our coaches, instructors 
and volunteers will be recruited, 
developed, and supported along their 
desired pathway. 

We will create a coach development 
programme based on recruitment, 
retention, recognition and celebration, 
which will support club and community 
development. We will look at 
employment opportunities for 
apprentices and build intergenerational 
skills sharing working with National 
Governing Bodies of Sport to access the 
best training for our sports coaches. 

Example activity - Supporting the development of coaches and volunteers within the 
community by offering ongoing training, support and celebration. 

Page 14

Agenda Item 7



       

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Our delivery plan 
 
To ensure delivery of our vision, we will maintain a sustainable evolving documented 
delivery plan. The council’s delivery plan will focus around four key areas: 
 

 Mapping and undertaking a gap analysis of current provision across the district. 

 Connecting and developing an active community partnership network between 
residents, community groups, parishes and businesses. 

 Identifying and delivering a programme of projects, activities, and opportunities to 
improve physical, mental and social wellbeing. 

 Ensuring communication, promotion, and continued engagement of active 
opportunities.         
                

Theme 5 – Effective communication, promotion and consultation 

We will gain valuable insight and 
increased knowledge of all that is 
available on our doorsteps. We will map 
all the provision and engage with our 
communities to get a true picture of what 
active opportunity is available, what is 
underutilised and where there are gaps 
in provision. 

We will make more effective use of social 
media, expand the use of our 
newsletters, and make better use of the 
council’s website. We will focus on 
engagement through face-to-face 
conversations, steering groups, and 
feedback forums with community groups. 
We will engage with our communities to 
promote the opportunities available to 
them and consult with them to ensure 
that our own interventions meet the 
needs of our residents.  

Example activity - Completing a full mapping exercise of all existing provision in the 
districts, in partnership with parishes - classes, activities and existing facilities, such as 
outdoor gym equipment, public tennis courts and community sports clubs, including 
new and future developments. 

Theme 6 – Collaborative partnerships and funding advice  

Partnership working has far-reaching 
benefits, ensuring resources go further 
and best practice is shared.  We will 
work in partnership with all sectors 
across our district to enhance the 
provision that can be provided.  

Working with local partners, we will 
access funding to support projects and 
gain the benefits of working 
collaboratively.  
We will support our local clubs, schools, 
community groups and local parishes to 
apply for funding, helping them remain 
independent and sustainable. 

Example activity - Offer advice and support to parishes, schools, clubs and 
communities seeking S106 and Community Infrastructure Levy funding to improve their 
facilities. 

Page 15

Agenda Item 7



       

Conclusion 
 
As a council, we are committed to working in partnership to deliver high quality, 
sustainable facilities, services, and activities for all, ensuring that residents can enjoy 
healthy lifestyles in an enabling and local environment.  This strategy presents our vision 
for everyone to Be Active, Be Healthy, Be Happy.   

 

Page 16

Agenda Item 7



 

 1 

Cabinet Report 

 
Report of Head of Development and Corporate Landlord 

Author: John Backley 

Telephone: 01235 422667 

Textphone: 18001 01235 422667 

Email : john.backley@southandvale.gov.uk  

Wards affected: all 

 

Cabinet member responsible: Sue Cooper 

Tel: 01491 835631 

Email: sue.cooper@southoxon.gov.uk  

To: CABINET 

Date: 11 August 2022 

 

 

New car park order 2022 – consultation 

results 

Recommendations 

That cabinet: 
(a) agrees the making of a new 2022 car park order having considered the comments 

made during the consultation period 

(b) authorise the head of Legal and Democratic to make the new order and to 
determine the date it comes into effect 

(c) adopts the new Parking Policy as appended to this report in appendix C. 

(d) agrees to South Oxfordshire District Council joining PATROL (Parking and Traffic 
Regulations Outside London) Adjudication Joint Committee as a member 

(e) request the leader to appoint a Cabinet member to represent South Oxfordshire 
District Council on the PATROL Adjudication Joint Committee for the remainder of 
this council until May 2023;  

(f) request the leader to appoint a Cabinet member as the named substitute in 
respect of the appointment under (e) above. 

Purpose of Report 

1. This report provides details of feedback received during the consultation period to 
enable cabinet to make new 2022 car park orders.   

CONFIDENTIAL 

Page 17

Agenda Item 8

mailto:john.backley@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:sue.cooper@southoxon.gov.uk


 

 2 

2. Officers request cabinet also agree a new Joint Managent Parking Policy (JMPP) 
required as part of Civil Parking Enforcement (CPE) legislation to provide transparency 
of how we provide the car parking service. 

3. The leader is requested to appoint Cabinet members to the Parking and Traffic 
Regulations Outside London Adjudication Committee. 

Corporate Objectives  

4. The provision and pricing of car parking supports the South’s strategic objective theme: 
“Investment and innovation that rebuilds our financial viability”. 

Background 

5. In December 2020, South Oxfordshire District Council and Vale of White Horse District 
Council approved a joint Cabinet report for the introduction of Civil Parking 
Enforcement (CPE), agreeing to support an application by Oxfordshire County Council 
(OCC) to the Department for Transport (DfT) for the introduction of CPE across 
Oxfordshire. 

6. This application for Oxfordshire was approved by the DfT and OCC began 
implementing CPE on street from 1 November 2021. 

7. As part of the approval of this application we are required to change our off-street car 
parking orders to introduce and follow the requirements of the Traffic Management Act 
2004 legislation that will be operating across Oxfordshire. 

8. The Individual Cabinet Member Decision (ICMD) of 16 September 2021 agreed to 
prepare and publish new draft orders to include changes so we could operate our off-
street car parks under CPE and to allow the head of Housing and Environment to 
oversee the statutory consultation.  The ICMD also agreed the level of penalty charge 
notices (PCN). 

9. Officers organised a Notice of Proposal highlighting the changes to the order to be 
published in the local newspaper, displayed in the car parks and published on the 
council website and on social media.  This information was made available from 12 
May to 6 June 2022.    

10. The changes to the order are relatively minor such as the wording of a ‘car park 
inspector’ changing to a ‘civil enforcement officer’ and PCNs being issued for offences 
rather than excess charge notices.   

11. The most important change is how we process the PCNs; how people dispute the 
issuing of the tickets and the ultimate outcome which is dealt with by a national 
adjudication service rather than in the magistrate’s court.   

12. In addition, as part of CPE we are required to prepare and publish a parking policy 
which includes details on how we process and deal with PCNs.  Officers have drafted a 
joint South and Vale Car Park Management Policy attached as appendix C.  

13. Cabinet is required to consider the outcome of the consultation and to agree the 
implementation of the joint Parking Policy. 

Page 18

Agenda Item 8



 

 3 

14. PATROL represents over 300 local authorities in England and provides a governing 
body which includes an adjudication service where the recipient of a PCN can 
challenge the decision of a Council. The Council is required to be a member of 
PATROL and to nominate a Council member to participate in the committee meetings 

Results of the consultation 

Statutory consultation on the draft car park 2022 
 
15. As required, we published a Notice of Proposal in the Oxford Times newspaper on 12 

May 2022 and sent a draft order to the Oxfordshire County Council Highways (who 
must consent to the order) and other appropriate organisations, including the Police.  
Cabinet is required to consider any representations received before making the order. 

16. The statutory consultees support the draft order and did not raise any comments or 
objections.  OCC has given formal consent to the order. 

17. Appendix A has a table of the comments received from statutory consultees. 

Public feedback 

18. Officers have received one formal objection and two queries a) and b) below. 

a) I would like clarification on the change to the no return.   

Officers have replied to explain in the new order the no return has been extended 
from no return ‘to the same car park’ to ‘no return to any car park in the same town’.  
This is to reduce the risk of users obtaining multiple ‘free’ tickets and avoiding 
paying for parking. Users are still allowed to extend their paid for parking by using 
the app or by ‘phone up to the maximum stay period.  

b) Parking in Wallingford for residents.   

The resident complained it was difficult to work out what the changes were.  They 
feel the parking charges make it impossible to live effectively in the town.  The main 
concern is the lack of residents parking in Wallingford which is not included in the 
change to the order. 

However, the residents goes on to raise specific items in the new Order they ‘don’t 
like’ and these are listed in appendix 1B.  There is a list of issues raised with the 
new order although the resident says they are unclear on what is being changed 
and suggests use of more plain English.   

Subsequently the resident has raised a formal objection which is shown in appendix 2B. 

19. Officers have replied to say that points 2,3,4,5,6,7,9,10,11,12 and 13 concern car park 
fees and charges which cabinet consider separately or are issues set out in legislation 
we cannot change and are not being considered as part of this consultation and the 
change to CPE. 

20. In reply to points 1, the change to the no return has been included to reduce the risk of 
users obtaining multiple free tickets and is covered in 17 a) above.   

Page 19

Agenda Item 8



 

 4 

21. In reply to point 8. which is about paying the fine and objecting, the car park policy 
clarifies that if someone wishes to challenge they should not pay the fine and the PCN 
is ‘on hold’ until a decision is made.  If the council upholds the PCN the reduced rate is 
still offered. 

22. Officers have told the complainant that the objections will be considered by cabinet as 
part of this report.  Officers consider however this feedback does not impact on the 
making of the new order and request Cabinet agree to the making of the new orders 
with no changes. 

Options 

23. As there are no substantiated objections to the draft orders the recommended option is 
to agree the orders with no amendments. 

24. The alternative option is to not change the orders and continue operating using existing 
orders.  Officers do not consider this a viable option as we will be unable to enforce 
parking rules within car parks.   

Joint Management Parking Policy (JMPP) 

25. Officers have drafted a car parking policy as required by CPE legislation. The policy as 
attached at appendix C details how we provide the car parking service and the various 
associated elements. 

26. The new policy incorporates existing policies such as the cancellation policy and 
pricing policy and once adopted will sit aside the new order.  Once the new order is 
made and implemented, the parking policy will be published on the council website in 
an open and transparent way and so the public are aware of how we manage car 
parks. 

Membership of PATROL 

27. We are required to appoint a member representative on the PATROL Committee. 
Although Oxfordshire County Council will carry out off street parking enforcement, 
South Oxfordshire District Council will become members of the Joint Committee and 
are entitled to a place on it. Appointees do have to be councillors but do not have to be 
members of the executive. The appointment would be for the life of the Council. 
Council is entitled to appoint one named substitute. 

28. The PATROL Committee is the body that enables all local authorities with Orders to 
carry out civil enforcement of parking contraventions and to exercise their functions 
under the Traffic Management Act 2004 and the Civil Enforcement of Parking 
Contraventions (England) General Regulations 2007.  

29. There is a statutory requirement for civil enforcement authorities to make provision for 
the independent adjudication of appeals against civil traffic penalties. This is exercised 
by the council joining the PATROL Adjudication Joint Committee which provides 
resources for the Traffic Penalty Tribunal.  

30. The main function of the Joint Committee is to provide resources to support 
independent adjudicators and their staff who together comprise the Traffic Penalty 
Tribunal. The tribunal’s appeal streams include: 

Page 20

Agenda Item 8



 

 5 

• Parking 
• Bus Lanes 
• Road User Charging  
• Littering from vehicles 
 

31. PATROL also undertakes initiatives to support its member authorities and raise 
awareness of the objectives of civil enforcement. 

32. Nominated members are committing to attend in person three committee meetings a 
year in Westminster, generally January, July and October. 

Climate and ecological impact implications 

33. The new order includes an offence for ‘engine idling’ which will allow the enforcement 
of drivers who keep vehicles running. 

34. The main benefit of CPE, for on street and off street parking, is to encourage the free 
flow of traffic around town centres, thus reducing pollution 

Financial Implications 

35. Any council decision that has financial implications must be made with the knowledge 
of the council’s overarching financial position. For South, the position reflected in the 
council’s medium-term financial plan (MTFP) as reported to Full Council in February 
2022 showed that the council is due to receive £2.1 million less in revenue funding than 
it plans to spend in 2022/23 (with the balance coming from reserves).  

36. This funding gap is predicted to increase to over £3 million by 2026/27. As there 
remains no certainty on future local government funding, following the announcement 
of a one-year spending review by government, and as the long-term financial 
consequences of the Coronavirus pandemic remain unknown, this gap could increase 
further. Every financial decision made needs to be cognisant of the need to address 
this funding gap in future years. 

37. The new offences under CPE provide for the issuing of PCNs at a higher level (more 
serious offences for example parking in a disabled bay without displaying a blue 
badge) and lower level (overstaying your time).  As the current excess charge notices 
are all issued at the equivalent of the higher level, there may only be a loss of income 
from the lower level offence PCNs.  This loss may be balanced by a new increased 
charge for the issue of a charge certificate and if that remains unpaid, there is a further 
increase if/when the case is registered at the traffic enforcement centre to allow for the 
collection of debt. 

38. In addition for each PCN issued there is a cost of 30 pence which goes to PATROL 
(Parking and Traffic Regulations Outside London - the adjudication service) to 
administer the appeal system.  This would be a cost of £631 per year based on the 
ECNs issued in 2021/22. 

39. Total income from ECNs in 2021/22 was £49,540. Officers estimate the income from 
PCNs issued under CPE may reduce and future budgets may have to be amended in 
light of this when more accurate income rates become available. 

Page 21

Agenda Item 8



 

 6 

40. In line with legislation, the car park account needs to be able to show how much we 
spend on car parks and identify any surplus income to be spent on highways and car 
park improvements.  

41. Members of outside bodies are entitled to travel expenses. The cost of attending the 
PATROL committee costs would be met from existing democratic services budgets. 

Legal Implications 

42. Under Regulation 14 of The Local Authorities’ Traffic Order (Procedure)(England and 
Wales) Regulations 1996, we can modify an order, whether in consideration of any 
objections or otherwise, before an order is made.  In doing so we must take appropriate 
steps to a) inform persons likely to be affected by the modifications; b) giving those 
persons an opportunity of making representations; and c) ensuring that any such 
representations are duly considered by the authority. 

43. We are required to publish and promote our car parking orders so that people are 
aware of the changes and the new charge levels.   

44. Officers placed adverts in local newspapers, put notices in all pay and display car parks 
and all legal documents were placed on the website.  Communications highlighted the 
changes via social media. 

45. Officers ask Cabinet to confirm that no changes to the draft order are required and so 
can go ahead with publishing a new order.  Once signed and sealed, we will advertise 
the new approved order via a ‘Notice of Making’ in the local press and on our website.  
We will also place a copy of the ‘Notice of Making’ in each car park.  We must reply to 
anyone who objected to the draft order to explain whether or not we have accepted 
their objection and the reason for our final decision. 
 

46. Officers intend for the new order to come into force on 12 September 2022. 

GDPR Implications 

47. Implementing CPE means there will be changes to how we manage personal data and 
we will also be using a different processing system. Officers will work on a Data 
Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA), update any changes within privacy notices and 
within the Councils Record of Processing Activities (ROPA). 

Risks 

48. There is a legal duty to draft a new order and consult formally with statutory consultees 
like the Police and the Highways Authority and we have carried out this out.  As the 
changes to the order are minor and only impact on those receiving a PCN, we have not 
carried out a district wide formal consultation with residents.   Publication in the local 
newspapers on social media and in all the car parks reduces the risk that there is a 
legal challenge later on which could make the new order invalid.  
 

49. An outline explanation of how we process the PCNs is explained on the back of the 
tickets issued and with an address of our website and parking policy.  This reduces the 
risk of challenge from those who have received an ECN in the past and are not aware 
of the new process. 
 

Page 22

Agenda Item 8



 

 7 

50. When operating car parks under CPE we are required to publish a parking policy which 
makes clear how we operate our car parks. A draft policy is attached at Appendix C. 
Cabinet is required to adopt the policy as we would be at risk of challenge to any PCNs 
issued without it. 

 

51. The Council could decide not to make an appointment to the Joint Committee; 
however, we would not be able to enforce under CPE regulations. 
 

52. There is a statutory requirement for civil enforcement authorities to make provision for 
independent adjudication for appeals against civil traffic penalties. PATROL has been 
established to enable local authorities undertaking civil parking enforcement to exercise 
their functions under Section 81 of the Traffic Management Act 2004 (TMA).  

 

Conclusion 

53. Officers carried out a formal consultation with statutory bodies on changes to the car 
parking order as well as publishing information on relevant changes.  We received no 
formal representations to warrant making any changes to the draft order and so ask 
Cabinet to consider the comments and agree for officers to carry out the making of a 
new 2022 order. 
 

54. Officers request Cabinet approves the adoption of the draft car parking policy for 
publication. 

 

55. Officers request Cabinet approves the membership to PATROL and the 
representatives put forward to join the committee. 
 
 
 

Background papers 

None 

 

Page 23

Agenda Item 8



 

 8 

Appendix A 
 
Consultation with statutory consultees on South Oxfordshire District Council draft 
car parking Order 2022  

 
 

Organisation Comment made 

Oxford Fire and Rescue No reply 

OCC Highways Replied to say no comments or objections 

Thames Valley Police Replied to say no objection 

Southern Central Ambulance No reply 

Thames Travel No reply 

NHS Trust No reply 

Road Haulage Association No reply 

Logistics UK No reply 

Page 24

Agenda Item 8



 

 9 

Appendix 1B 
 
Extract of email from resident specifically relating to the changes in the order 

 

 
Appendix 2B 
 
Extract from further email from same resident as in 1B  
 
I would like to object to the Order on these points (amongst others in my previous email) - above 

 
1. No return policy: this has been proposed to not allow moving to another car park in the same town. 

As it stands, as a resident, I now need to move my car each day for an hour. Thus, make an 
unnecessary journey. In my case move my car (possibly to a road with a single yellow line or no 
parking restrictions) and then back into the car park (when in a road with parking restrictions). An 
unnecessary journey does not help with climate change or assist those that live in a centre of the 
town and have little option but to use the car parks 

 
2. With a change of fees in this order to allow parking of up to 10 hours of an additional 40p, the fees 

have been set at a too high level. They have been changed to balance the books of parking cost 
against income, although I think this is partially unclear of the benefits of parking to the town’s 
income and using a 2020-2021 figure which is a misleading headline value during COVID and the 
inclusion of “depreciation” as a cost which is just an accounting fiddle (if you remove depreciation 
the car parks make money). As well as this you are assisting with the inflation spiral that used as a 
reason for controlling pay rises but by having double digit increases year or year is pushing costs to 
users up.  
 

3. The extension of parking to 8am to 6pm makes managing overnight parking difficult with managing 
tickets. As an example, I might return home at 5pm from work (when I do commute) for which I can 
get a 1-hour ticket for fee. However, I would need to leave home by 8am the next morning – 
although I could go out and get another ticket at 8am (although in theory I might have needed to 
move my car). I would suggest that a solution that states that no fines are given out before 9am 
each morning. 
 

Page 25

Agenda Item 8



 

 1
0 

4. The extension of parking to Sunday’s now makes me feel very trapped at home. If I leave a parking 
place on a road with unrestricted parking and return and cannot find a space, then I am forced to 
pay for a space. As well as making multiple trips around the block looking for space. This puts a lot 
of pressure on residents. 
 

5. Season tickets should be available without a waiting list up to 100% capacity of the car park. The 
number of season tickets issued should be published. 
 

6. Season tickets for local residents that have no choice but to use a local car park should be made 
available which could provide a set number of days to residents to park when on-street parking is 
not available for a reasonable cost (e.g., a fee of £1 a day and allow up to 100 days parking) 
 

7. Fines should be proportionate to the cost of parking – if you overstay a free hour (which represents 
a cost of £1.80) the find should be of an order of £5 and if all day it should be maybe limited to £10. 
At £25/35 reduced fees these are not proportionate.  
 

8. It should be clear to people that they can still pay the fine and get the reduced fee as well as 
objecting to a fine. This wasn’t clear to me – I assumed if I paid the fine then I couldn’t object. 
 

9. If a fine has not been placed on the vehicle, then it has not been served. If a car drives away, then it 
has not been served. 
 

10. The risks identified (number 44 and 45) in the supplementary papers for the Feb 2022 cabinet 
meeting has come to play. However, the risk has also impacted the local residents who used on-
street parking finding less availability. This has implications outside just parking. 
 

11. Review using a clear English service to make the rules clear rather than legalese. Maybe aim to get 
the rules recognised by aiming to get the Plain English Campaign Crystal Mark or something similar. 
 

12. Future changes to an increase in fees to now require a new order – not just publication 
 

13. Future changes to the use of bays to now require a new order – not just publication 

 
 
 
 
Appendix C 
 
Joint South and Vale joint management policy 
 

 

Page 26

Agenda Item 8



 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 

 

South Oxfordshire and  

Vale of White Horse District 
Councils  

Joint Car Park Management Policy  

 

v1.4 September 2022

Page 27

Agenda Item 8



 

 
 
Joint Car Park Management Policy v1.4 2 

 

Contents 

1 Introduction 3 

2 Equality and diversity 3 

3 Car park revenue 3 

4 Civil enforcement officers (CEOs) 5 

5 Penalty Charge Notices (PCNs) 5 

6 Communication 5 

7 How we operate the car parks 5 

8 Data protection and use of personal data 6 

9 Complaints 7 

10 Annual report 7 

11 Miscellaneous 8 

12 Appendix A Previous Car Park Pricing Policy 9 

13 Appendix B List of Car Parks 11 

14 Appendix C Penalty Charge Notice process 13 

15 Appendix D - Common contravention codes explained  21 

15 Appendix E Cancelation Criteria 25 

16 Appendix F How to make a formal representation 35 

 

Page 28

Agenda Item 8



 

 
 
Joint Car Park Management Policy v1.4 3 

 

1 Introduction 

1.1 This policy is intended to inform the public how South Oxfordshire District 
Council and the Vale of White Horse District Council manage their off-street 
car parks under Civil Parking Enforcement Regulations (CPE) and the Traffic 
Management Act (TMA) as implemented in September 2022. 

1.2 The policy supersedes all previous separate South and Vale council car park 
pricing policies.  Previous policies are attached as Appendix A for information. 

1.3 Both councils are members of the Parking and Traffic Regulations Outside 
London (PATROL) Adjudication Joint Committee which produces an annual 
statement of accounts which is subject to external audit.  

1.4 This policy aims to provide clarity, consistency, and transparency on how we 
carry out enforcement and manage our car parks and is aligned with the 
Department for Transport’s (DfT) guidance and with the aspirations of the 
Traffic Penalty Tribunal, the British Parking Association and the Local 
Government Ombudsman. 

1.5 South Oxfordshire District Council owns, manages and is responsible for the 
enforcement of public car parks in Didcot, Henley-on-Thames, Wallingford, 
Thame, Benson, Chinnor, Culham, Goring, and Wheatley.  

1.6 Vale of White Horse District Council owns, manages and is responsible for 
enforcement of public car parks in Faringdon, Wantage and Abingdon 
(including Rye Farm and Hales Meadow car parks, Abingdon which sit in the 
adjacent district of South Oxfordshire).   

See Appendix B for a full list of car park locations. 

1.7 As the highway authority, Oxfordshire County Council, is responsible for 
enforcing on-street parking within the two districts.   

1.8 This policy also uses DfT guidance on how councils should forecast revenue in 
advance and sets out how we manage revenue from the income generated 
from our car parks and Penalty Charge Notices (PCN). 

2 Equality and diversity 

2.1 We will treat people fairly, equally and with respect when implementing our car 
park management policy, and in line with other council policies. 

2.2 Our customer service team is available to help people on 01235 422600, 
including those unable to use our online forms.  Please note, all calls to this 
number are recorded and saved for six months before they are deleted. 

3 Car park revenue  

3.1 To help determine how we use the income we receive from parking fees and 
penalty charges, we follow section 55 (as amended) of the Road Traffic 
Regulation Act 1984. The guidance states that local authority parking 
enforcement should be self-financing. The Secretary of State does not expect 
either national or local taxpayers to meet any deficit. We therefore aim for our 
parking income to at least meet the cost of managing and running our car 
parks.  In line with the legislation, any surplus parking income is used for 
highway or car park service delivery, development and improvements. 

Page 29

Agenda Item 8

https://www.patrol-uk.info/
https://www.patrol-uk.info/
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/roads-and-transport/parking/new-parking-enforcement-areas
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1984/27/section/55
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1984/27/section/55


 

 
 
Joint Car Park Management Policy v1.4 4 

 

3.2 We carry out enforcement to ensure the efficient management of our car parks.  

3.3 We use penalty charges to dissuade motorists from breaking parking 
restrictions.  We do not set targets for raising revenue from Penalty Charge 
Notices (PCNs). We aim to run our enforcement operations efficiently, 
effectively and economically.   

3.4 Parking Fees  

3.4.1 We set our car park fees (the level of penalty charges follow government 
statute as below) so that over a five-year rolling period they at least meet the 
costs of running our car parks. The costs include charges for capital 
expenditure, service charges and administration and are reviewed annually.  

3.4.2 We may set parking charges in specific car parks to help regulate and influence 
usage to help support town centre vitality and viability, as well as our 
environmental and corporate objectives.  This may include using different 
pricing to encourage those parking for longer periods to park on the edge of 
towns to help free up town centre parking for shoppers and visitors. 

3.4.3 We benchmark our car park fees and charges against 

(a) car parks provided in towns and villages in the district by other bodies 

(b) on-street parking charges 

(c) car parks in neighbouring authority areas 

3.4.4 When people pay to park, they are agreeing to abide by the terms and 
conditions set out in the car park where they park their vehicle. 

3.5 Information on specific tariffs, charging periods and other restrictions can be 
found on car park information boards and ticket machines, and at  

southoxon.gov.uk/parking or whitehorsedc.gov.uk/parking 

3.6 We review all fees, charges, rules and regulations annually to ensure that they 
continue to meet statutory requirements and our local aims and objectives.   

3.7 Paid for parking fees are able to be carried over to the next charging period.  

3.8 Penalty Charges 

3.8.1 The purpose of penalty charges is to dissuade motorists from breaking parking 
restrictions. The objective of civil parking enforcement is for 100 per cent 
compliance, with no penalty charges issued. 

3.9 Parking fees and penalty charges will be proportionate and the penalty charges 
are set in accordance with guidelines set by the Secretary of State. To ensure 
the penalties we issue are fair and appropriate, we apply different fines, 
depending on the level of contravention. 

3.9.1 The parking enforcement offences and the penalties that apply in public car 
parks in South Oxfordshire and the Vale of White Horse are set out in Appendix 
D. 

3.9.2 Regulations covering our car parks are made in accordance with the Traffic 
Management Act 2004. These are civil regulations, meaning that in the 
event a vehicle owner does not park in accordance with the regulations, we 
are able to take civil enforcement action to enforce any penalty. 

3.9.3 The regulations governing the enforcement of parking in our car parks are 

Page 30

Agenda Item 8

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/parking
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/parking


 

 
 
Joint Car Park Management Policy v1.4 5 

 

made in the form of Off-Street Parking Places Orders. These are legal 
documents that set out what is and is not permitted in our public car parks. 

3.9.4 The current Off-Street Parking Places Order (Order) which applies to South 
and Vale car parks is available for inspection by appointment at our offices 
or through either council’s websites.  

3.9.5 We carry out enforcement of the Order by issuing Penalty Charge Notices 
(PCNs). Formal challenges to a PCN are dealt with by the Traffic Penalty Tribunal 
(TPT). Non-payment is dealt with by the Traffic Enforcement Centre (TEC).  
Please see the appendix C for how we process PCNs. 

3.9.6 Civil Enforcement Officers, issue PCNs on our behalf when vehicles are 
parked in contravention of the Order. 

4 Civil enforcement officers (CEOs) 

4.1 Our car parks are managed under contract by Saba who employ Civil 
Enforcement Officers (CEOs).  CEOs provide a visible presence and check 
vehicles which are parked to ensure that they follow parking regulations, 
the correct payment has been made for each vehicle and bay correctly 
occupied.  They also ensure PCNs are issued correctly in line with our car 
park Orders. 

4.2 All CEOs are trained by Saba to undertake their role and how to implement 
the regulations.  They are provided with a uniform and an identification 
number so that they can be identified. 

5 Penalty Charge Notices (PCNs)  

5.1 Under the Traffic Management Act (TMA) 2004 (TMA), we are required to 
follow a specific process in issuing and enforcing a PCN - this process is 
detailed in Appendix C. 

5.2 Don’t ignore a PCN 

5.2.1 If you ignore the PCN or any letters we send you, or if you do not follow the 
process laid out, we will register the debt at court and pursue payment. This 
may result in the case being referred to an Enforcement Agent (Bailiff) which 
means the costs may increase. 

5.3 Payment of PCN’s 

5.3.1 Payment of a PCN is either through southoxon.gov.uk/parking or 
whitehorsedc.gov.uk/parking or by phone: 0345 6460421 (24 hours 7 days a 
week).  The council will not accept payment by cash, cheque or postal order, if 
you need to discuss ways of paying your PCN please contact the car park team 
on 01235 470118. 

6 Communication 

6.1 Information on the current tariffs, charging periods and other restrictions that apply 
to the car parks are displayed on the information boards and ticket machines and 
on the councils’ websites 

 southoxon.gov.uk/parking or whitehorsedc.gov.uk/parking  

7 How we operate the car parks  

7.1 Car Park usage information 

Page 31

Agenda Item 8

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/18/contents
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/parking
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/parking
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/parking
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/parking


 

 
 
Joint Car Park Management Policy v1.4 6 

 

7.1.1 While we enforce the regulations under section 55 (as amended) of the Road Traffic 
Regulation Act 1984, there are a number of terms and conditions that we determine 
locally such as the parking fees and charging hours. 

7.1.2 Each year we undertake a usage survey which identifies on a particular working 
day the number of vehicles parked in each car park and the duration of stay 
during the charging hours.  We publish the results of this survey on our 
websites and use this information to review how we provide our car park service, 
in order to achieve the aims and objectives in line with our Corporate Plans.  

7.2 Off-street parking bays  

7.2.1 There is no statutory size for any type of parking bays.  We will review bay sizes 
within car parks based on the current recommended sizes published by the British 
Parking Association (BPA) www.britishparking.co.uk/ when providing new car parks 
or resurfacing and relining our current car parks.  

7.2.2 We will follow statutory requirements and national guidance for the provision of 
parking bays as well as considering usage and customer feedback.  Our car parks 
include special parking marked as per relevant BPA guidance for: 

 Accessible bays 

 Electric Vehicles (including charging bays) 

 Parent and child bays  

 Motorcycles  

 Buses/coaches 

 Motor homes  
 
There are no taxi bays in council car parks as of September 2022. 

7.3 Terms and Conditions 

7.3.1 Details of the current terms and conditions are included on the individual car park 
web pages which include the current information listed below: 

 Opening hours 

 Types of car parks  

 Fees and Charges 

 Permit types and charges 

 Parking for blue badge holders  

 Requests for other alternative use of car parks 

 Electric vehicle charging 

 Vehicle larger than a single space 

 Licences to trade  

7.3.2 When people pay to park, they agree to abide by the terms and conditions set 
out in the car park where they park their vehicle. 

8 Data protection and use of personal data 

8.1 When undertaking enforcement action alongside Saba Parking, we will process 
personal data belonging to the individual who has received the PCN.  This can 
include, but is not limited to: 

Page 32

Agenda Item 8

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1984/27/section/55
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1984/27/section/55
http://www.britishparking.co.uk/


 

 
 
Joint Car Park Management Policy v1.4 7 

 

(a) vehicle registration numbers (including CCTV images and photographs of 

vehicles taken by CEO) 

(b) names and addresses 

(c) financial information (such as credit cards or bank account details taken 

when payment is made). 

Full details of our Data Protection, Saba and PATROL and our car parks 
processing of personal data can be found at   

southoxon.gov.uk/parking or whitehorsedc.gov.uk/parking  

9 Complaints 

9.1 If you are not happy with the way an informal review or formal 
representation has been dealt with by our car parks team (rather than the 
outcome of the review) you can make a complaint via our formal complaints 
process.  You can find information on how to do this at  

southoxon.gov.uk/comments-suggestions-and-complaints/ 

whitehorsedc.gov.uk/comments-suggestions-and-complaints/  

9.2 Our complaints procedure specifically excludes matters where the complaint 
involves legal proceedings or cases where individuals have a separate right of 
appeal. Given that there is a separate right of appeal to the Traffic Penalty 
Tribunal for Penalty Charge Notice, appeals against PCNs are not dealt with 
under the complaint procedure. However, if you feel that we have not acted 
reasonably or fairly and your complaint is not in relation to an appeal against a 
penalty charge notice, you can use our complaints procedure. 

10 Annual report 

10.1 The Traffic Management Act (TMA) 2004 requires the us to publish annual report 
separately for each council, which details parking enforcement activities in the 
respective districts.   

10.2 Guidelines recommend that the report contains the following information: 

Financial. 

 Total income and expenditure on the parking account kept under section 55 of 
the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 as modified by regulation 25 of the Civil 
Enforcement of Parking Contraventions (England) General Regulations 2007. 

 Breakdown of income by source (i.e., off-street parking charges and penalty 
charges).  

 Total surplus or deficit on the parking account. 

 Action taken with respect to a surplus or deficit on the parking account. 

 Details of how any financial surplus has been, or is to be spent, including the 
benefits that can be expected because of such expenditure. 

Statistical 

 Number of higher level PCNs served 

 Number of lower level PCNs served  

Page 33

Agenda Item 8

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/parking
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/parking
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/comments-suggestions-and-complaints


 

 
 
Joint Car Park Management Policy v1.4 8 

 

 Number of PCNs paid  

 Number of PCNs paid at discount rate  

 Number of PCNs against which a challenge or formal representation was 
made  

 Number of PCNs cancelled as a result of a challenge or a formal 
representation  

 Number of PCNs written off for other reasons (e.g., CEO error or driver 
untraceable)  

 Number of vehicles immobilised  

 Number of vehicles removed 

 Number of CEOs deployed. 

10.3 We make annual reports available by publishing them on our websites.   We also 
provide annual returns to the Government and for the Adjudication Service. 

11 Miscellaneous 

11.1 Saba CEOs monitor safety and security in our car parks and report any 
incidents or potential problems. 

11.2 If there are any special events due to take place affecting the car parks we 
will inform the public by placing notices on or near to the information 
boards.  

11.3 We do not accept any liability for the use of our car parks and vehicles are 
left at the owner’s sole risk. 

  

Page 34

Agenda Item 8



 

 
 
Joint Car Park Management Policy v1.4 9 

 

12 Appendix A Previous Car Park Pricing Policies South and Vale 

12.1 South Oxfordshire District Council 2006 Car Park Pricing Policy 

a) Car Park fees and charges shall be set so that over a five-year rolling period they at 
least meet the costs of car parks calculated in accordance with proper accounting 
practice.  Costs will include charges for capital expenditure. 

b) Pricing may be used to regulate and influence usage to support town centre vitality 
and viability.  Therefore, short term and long-term parking to be differentially priced 
and located to encourage workers to park on the edge of towns to free up town 
centre parking for shoppers and visitors.  

c) Car Park fees and charges to be benchmarked against 

i. car parks provided in towns and villages in the district by other bodies 

ii. on-street parking charges 

iii. car parks in neighbouring authorities: 

 Cherwell DC 

 Aylesbury Vale DC 

 Wokingham DC 

 Wycombe DC 

 Vale of White Horse DC 
 

d) Parking is provided free of charge for disabled badge holders 

e) No fees and charges to apply on Sundays removed by Cabinet in 2021 

f) Parking fees and charges to be reviewed annually 

Season tickets and permits 

g) Season tickets are available for purchase in advance by residents, tourists and 
businesses for all long stay car parks but do not guarantee a place.  They are 
available for one year, a quarter or one week at a discounted rate. 

h) Permits are available for market traders which give discounted rates for all day 
parking in long stay car parks for one day of the week over a quarter or a year.  They 
also do not guarantee a place. 

i) Discounts will be determined each year when fees and charges are reviewed. 

 

  

Page 35

Agenda Item 8



 

 
 
Joint Car Park Management Policy v1.4 10 

 

12.2 Vale District Council Car Park pricing policy 

The Vale Council’s existing parking pricing policy was last reviewed in 2011 when policy B 
(1) was removed.  This was to reflect the fact that the introduction of the free two hours 
meant that the income from the service would not meet the expenditure.  The other policies 
are: 

B (2)  Differential pricing may apply between areas in the Vale, including between car parks in the 
same town 

B (3)  Pricing may be used to regulate and influence usage to achieve a balance between 
sustainability and environmental objectives, and town centre vitality and viability; hence, 
short- term and long-term public parking should be differentially priced and located to 
encourage edge of town parking for commuters, thus freeing town centre parking for 
shoppers and visitors 

B (4)  Parking will be provided free of charge for disabled badge holders 

B (5)  Parking fees and charges will be reviewed annually.  

  

Page 36

Agenda Item 8



 

 
 
Joint Car Park Management Policy v1.4 11 

 

13 Appendix B List of Car Parks 

13.1.1 South Oxfordshire District Council 

Town  Car Park Address Post Code 

Didcot Edinburgh Drive Edinburgh Drive, Didcot,   OX11 7LT 

        

Goring Wheel Orchard Wheel Orchard, Goring,  RG8 9HB  

        

Henley Kings Road Kings Road, Henley-on-Thames,  RG9 2DQ 

  Grey's Road Greys Road, Henley-on-Thames,  RG9 2AA. 

  Southfields 
Southfields (off Goodall Close), 
Henley-on-Thames,  

RG9 1BJ  

        

Wallingford Castle Street Castle St, Wallingford,   OX10 8DL  

  Riverside Riverside, Wallingford,   OX10 0BU 

  St Georges Road St Georges Road, Wallingford, OX10 8HJ 

  Goldsmiths Lane Goldsmiths Lane, Wallingford,   OX10 0DN 

  Cattlemarket Cattlemarket, Wallingford,  OX10 0AU  

  Thames St Thames St, Wallingford,  OX10 0HD 

        

Thame Cattlemarket Cattlemarket, Thame,  OX9 3FD 

  Southern Road Southern Road, Thame,  OX9 2EE  

        

Benson Mill Stream,  Benson,  OX10 6RL 

    

Chinnor High St,  Chinnor,  OX39 4SJ. 

    

Culham Culham Lock,  Culham  OX14 3BT. 

    

Wheatley Church Road,  Wheatley,  OX33 1NB 

    

 

  

Page 37

Agenda Item 8



 

 
 
Joint Car Park Management Policy v1.4 12 

 

13.1.2 Vale of White Horse District Council Car Parks 

Town  Car Park  Address Post Code 

        

Abingdon Audlett Drive Audlett Drive, Abingdon,  OX14 3ND 

  Abbey Close Abbey Close, Abingdon,  OX14 3JE 

  Cattle market Abbey Close, Abingdon,  OX14 3JH 

  
Charter Multi 
Story Broad Street, Abingdon, OX14 3LH 

  Civic Car Park Abbey Close, Abingdon,  OX14 3JH 

  Hales Meadow  Culham Road, Abingdon,  OX14 3NN 

  Rye Farm Culham Road, Abingdon,  OX14 3NN 

  
West St Helen 
Street 

West St Helen Street, 
Abingdon,  

OX14 5BU 

        

Faringdon 
Southampton 
Street 

Southampton Street, 
Faringdon,  

SN7 7AZ 

  
Gloucester 
Street  

 Gloucester Street, 
Faringdon,  

SN7 7HY 

        

Wantage Portway Portway, Wantage, OX12 9BU 

  
Limborough 
Road 

Limborough Road, Wantage,  OX12 9AJ 

  Mill Street Mill Street, Wantage,  OX12 9AJ 

        

 

  

Page 38

Agenda Item 8



 

 
 
Joint Car Park Management Policy v1.4 13 

 

14 Appendix C Penalty Charge Notice process 

14.1 PCN is Issued 

14.1.1 Don’t ignore a PCN. If you ignore the PCN or any letters we send you, or if you do 
not follow the process laid out, we will register the debt at court and pursue 
payment. This may result in the case being referred to an Enforcement Agent 
(Bailiff) which means the costs may increase. 

14.1.2 We will provide evidence of the parking offence, either from direct observation 
or from the record of an approved device, such as CCTV.  Wherever possible, 
CEOs will make drivers aware that they have broken the parking rules at the 
time.  

14.1.3 When issuing a PCN, the CEO will either fix it to the vehicle or give it to the 
person who appears to be in charge of the vehicle. In certain circumstances, 
they will post it to the vehicle’s owner. See below in 14.1.6.   

14.1.4 The information that a PCN must contain are set out in the regulations and will 
contain the following: 

(a) details of the issuing council 

(b) location of the vehicle  

(c) the contravention code 

(d) observation start and finish times 

(e) penalty charge notice number (this should be uniquely identifiable) 

(f) CEO identification number. 

14.1.5 Photographs and notes from the CEO are kept as evidence and may be used 
to help resolve any disputes.  We will make use of digital cameras and similar 
technology.  We will disclose any evidence at the earliest possible opportunity, 
normally on the website within 24 hours for those issued with a PCN to view.  
Details as to how to view this evidence can be found on the back of the notice 

14.1.6 In the following circumstances, we may need to serve a penalty charge notice by 
post which will also act as the Notice to Owner: 

(a) If the CEO has been prevented, for example by force, threats of force, 
obstruction, or violence, from serving the PCN, either by fixing it to the vehicle 
or by giving it to the person who appears to be in charge of that vehicle. 

(b) If the CEO had started to issue the penalty but did not have enough time to 
finish or serve it before the vehicle was driven away and would otherwise have 
to write off or cancel the penalty charge notice.  

14.1.7 In these circumstances, we will confirm the identity of the vehicle owner with 
the DVLA and will then issue a PCN to them by post which will also act as the 
Notice to Owner. The postal penalty charge notices should be sent within 14 days of 
the contravention. 

14.2 Levels of Penalty  

14.2.1 PCNs have two levels identified by the code included on the PCN. See 
Appendix D for details. Current prices are available on the councils’ websites 

14.3 Payment of PCN’s 

Page 39

Agenda Item 8



 

 
 
Joint Car Park Management Policy v1.4 14 

 

14.3.1 Payment of a PCN is either through southoxon.gov.uk/parking or 
whitehorsedc.gov.uk/parking or 0345 6460421 (24 hours 7 days a week).  
The council will not accept payment by cash, cheque or postal order, if you 
need to discuss ways of paying your PCN please contact the car park team on 
01235 470118. 

14.4 How to dispute a PCN  

14.4.1 You can only dispute a PCN issued in our off-street public car parks. If you receive 
a PCN while parking elsewhere, please refer to the information on the PCN. There 
is a statutory process that must be followed when you challenge a PCN. This is split 
into two stages 

14.5 Stage 1 - Informal challenge  

There are three options for you to choose when you receive a PCN 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The detail of this stage of the process is set out in the paragraphs below 

14.5.1 Guidance about this process can be found on the back of the PCN. You must make 

PAY PCN 
14 days to pay at 50% discount or  

28 days to pay in full –  
CASE CLOSED 

 

IGNORE 
After 28 days a Notice to Owner 

is sent to registered keeper 

CHALLENGE 
An informal challenge to the issue of a PCN must be received within 14 days of the 
PCN issue date for the discounted amount to apply if the informal challenge is not 

accepted.  
An informal challenge received after 14 days  

but before 28 days will still be considered but the original charge will be payable if 
the informal challenge is not accepted.  

 

CHALLENGE ACCEPTED 
PCN Cancelled 
CASE CLOSED 

 

CHELLENGE REJECTED 
Pay PNC OR wait for the  

NOTICE TO OWNER 
 
 

Penalty charge notice fixed to 
windscreen, handed to the driver, or 
sent by post 

 

Page 40

Agenda Item 8

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/parking
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/parking
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/vale-of-white-horse-district-council/parking-roads-and-streets/parking/car-parks/


 

 
 
Joint Car Park Management Policy v1.4 15 

 

a challenge in writing, either by using the ‘Challenge or make a representation’ 
button under ‘Challenge or make a representation’ on the web page, or by post to 
Car Parks, Abbey House, Abingdon OX14 3JE.  Please state why you believe 
you should not pay the PCN and include any information or evidence you feel is 
relevant. 

14.5.2 If you are unable to submit a request for an informal review in writing or via our web 
site, please call our customer service team on 01235 422600, and they will 
complete the information on your behalf.  

14.5.3 We cannot accept requests to review a PCN by telephone.  You cannot come to our 
offices to challenge or discuss a PCN. 

14.5.4 To qualify for an informal challenge, you must submit your request within 28 days of 
the date on the PCN.  We will not consider any request received after this period. 

14.5.5 If you are submitting a challenge, please do not pay your fine until we have 
confirmed whether or not we have upheld your challenge as we may not be able 
to refund any payment made at this stage.  When we receive an informal 
challenge, we will not take further action until the matter has been considered and a 
reply sent.  

14.5.6 Provided Saba Parking have received a request for an informal challenge 
(dispute) of an PCN within 14 days of the date on which the PCN was issued, if 
the PCN is upheld following a review you will receive an allowance to enable 
you to pay the penalty charge at the discounted amount.   

14.5.7 When submitting a challenge, please include any evidence you have, as this will 
give you a greater chance of success. This could be: 

(a) a valid pay and display ticket 

(b) photos to show there were no road markings to restrict parking 

(c) photos of signs that are hard to see or understand 

(d) a letter from someone who was with you saying what happened – write ‘Witness 
statement’ at the top of this 

(e) a repair note, if your car broke down. 

14.5.8 Please ensure you include: 

(a) the date the ticket was issued 

(b) your full address including post code 

(c) your vehicle registration number 

(d) the penalty notice number. 

14.5.9 You can submit the details and upload any documents onto our online portal at link 
here 

14.5.10 If you need to send documents by post, please send copies rather than originals to 
ensure they don’t get lost in the post.  You can also send them via recorded 
delivery, so you’ll have proof that they have arrived.   

14.5.11 Informal review requests will be considered by Saba Parking who will, having 
regard to Appendix E, the circumstances in which PCNs can or cannot be 
cancelled. The outcome of an informal challenge will be either your challenge 
will be upheld , in which case the PCN will be cancelled  or your challenge will 

Page 41

Agenda Item 8



 

 
 
Joint Car Park Management Policy v1.4 16 

 

be rejected.   You will receive a response within 10 days of submitting your 
challenge. 

14.5.12 If your challenge has been rejected and you don’t agree, you can make a formal 
representation (Stage 2) once you receive the Notice to Owner (NtO). 

14.6 Notice to Owner  

14.6.1 If no informal challenge is requested, or the PCN not paid after 28 days, we will 
make an enquiry to the DVLA via electronic link to confirm the identity of the 
registered vehicle keeper. Once we’ve contract the DVLA, we are obliged to send a 
Notice to Owner (NtO) in order to comply with the procedures laid down in the civil 
debt recovery process, this is a statutory requirement.  

14.6.2 Unlike the previous procedure through the magistrate’s court, failure to respond to a 
Notices to Owner (Not) is not an offence. If you do not pay an NtO it will be 
registered as a debt against the keeper and enforcement agents will be instructed. 

14.6.3 The NtO gives details about the PCN – when it was issued, under what 
contravention code etc. The NtO requests payment at the original amount of the 
PCN and warns that if payment is not received within 28 days a Charge Certificate 
will be issued, increasing the Penalty Charge by 50 percent. The NtO explains how 
to make representations against the PCN and under which grounds representations 
can be made. Any representation must be made within 28 days. 

14.7 Stage 2 – Formal Representation (details of formal representations are in 
appendix F) 

  

Page 42

Agenda Item 8



 

 
 
Joint Car Park Management Policy v1.4 17 

 

Once you receive a Notice to Owner you have three options 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The detail of this stage of the process is set out in the paragraphs below 

14.7.1 The grounds for making a formal representation are stated on the NtO, and the 
representation must be made in writing by the registered keeper of the vehicle.  If 
you don’t appeal and don’t pay within 28 days, the penalty will go up by another 50 
per cent. 

14.7.2 A web code is printed on the top right corner of the NtO. If a web code has not been 
provided, the penalty is not at the formal representation stage. You need this code 
to submit a formal representation because we can only deal with the registered 
keeper of the vehicle from this stage, or someone they have authorised to act on 
their behalf. 

14.7.3 Once you have submitted your representation, we will carefully consider it (as per 

IGNORE 
Owner does nothing 

Council pursues PCN 
as a debit in the County 

Court 

APPEAL 
Owner makes written 

representation on formal 
grounds or mitigation 

PAY PCN 
28 days to pay in full 

and the CASE 

CLOSED 

CHARGE 
CERTIFICATE 

PCN increased by 50% 
further 14 days given to 

pay 

Council accepts 
representations  
PCN is cancelled. 
No further action 
taken or required 
CASE CLOSED 

NOTICE OF DEBIT 
REGISTRATION 

The debt is registered 
at County Court further 

fee is payable 

Appeal to the 
Traffic Penalty 

Tribunal 

Warrant  
The debt is passed to 

bailiffs for recovery 

COUNCIL REJECTS 
REPRESENTATIONS 

 
.  NOTICE OF REJECTION 
 issued with reasons. Owner 
is informed of their rights of 
appeal to the Traffic Penalty 

Tribunal 
 

PCN stands with a 
further 28 days to pay 

If paid CASE 
CLOSED   

If PCN not paid it will 
be treated as an 

Ignored PCN 

Page 43

Agenda Item 8



 

 
 
Joint Car Park Management Policy v1.4 18 

 

appendix F) and write to you within 28 days with our decision. If we accept your 
representation, you will not be required to pay the PCN. 

14.7.4 If we reject your representation, we will send you a Notice of Rejection of 
Representation and you will have the opportunity to either pay the PCN or appeal to 
the Independent Adjudicator at the Traffic Penalty Tribunal Service (TPT). You can 
only appeal to the Independent Adjudicator after you have received the Notice of 
Rejection of Representation. 

14.7.5 If you have already paid the PCN and you have been sent a Notice to Owner, 
please write to us with the details and evidence of the payment. 

14.8 Stage 3 – Appeal to the Independent Adjudicator 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The detail of this stage of the process is set out in the paragraphs below 

14.8.1 If your formal appeal is rejected, we will send you a ‘notice of rejection’. At this 
point, you can challenge our decision at an independent tribunal. It’s free to do so 
and you don’t have to go to the tribunal – you can submit your reasons and 

Appeal to the Traffic Penalty 
Tribunal 

APPEAL DISMISSAL 
(UNSUCCESSFUL) 

PCN stands.  Further 28 days 
to pay. If unpaid the charge is 

registered as a debt in the 
County Court 

APPEAL ALLOWED 
(SUCCESSFUL)  

Adjudication decides in favour 
of the appellant (owner). 

Liability to pay is cancelled  

CASE CLOSED 

NOTICE OF DEBIT 
REGISTRATION 

The debt is registered at County 
Court further fee of is payable 

WARRANT  
The debt is passed to 

enforcement agent for recovery 

Page 44

Agenda Item 8



 

 
 
Joint Car Park Management Policy v1.4 19 

 

evidence in writing online via Traffic Penalty Tribunal.  

14.8.2 If you win the appeal, you will not be required to pay the PCN.  

14.8.3 If the independent tribunal disagrees with your appeal you are advised to pay your 
PCN within 28 days, otherwise the penalty will go up by another 50 per cent.  If you 
continue to fail to pay the fine, we may choose to prosecute you which may result in 
your credit rating being affected, and you might also have to pay court costs. 

14.8.4 For full details of the process, please see the Traffic Penalty Tribunal website. 

14.9 A Charge Certificate 

14.9.1 If the PCN remains unsettled, we will issue a Charge Certificate 28 days after the 
NtO.  The Charge Certificate notifies the keeper that the amount outstanding has 
increased by 50 percent and warns that the amount will be registered as a debt with 
the County Court, if not paid within 14 days. 

14.9.2 There is no formal Right of Appeal once the Charge Certificate has been issued. If 
the Charge is not paid within the 14 days, we will apply to register the outstanding 
amount as a debt, incurring a fee added to the amount due. 

14.10 An Order for Recovery 

14.10.1 After we register the debt, we will send an Order for Recovery to the Registered 
Vehicle Keeper notifying them that a Penalty Charge has been registered in their 
name at the Parking Enforcement Centre at Northampton County Court and the 
outstanding amount will increase by to cover a Court Registration Fee.  

14.10.2 The Order for Recovery states YOU MUST WITHIN 21 DAYS either pay the 
amount due or file a statutory declaration.  If you do nothing, your possessions may 
be removed and sold to pay this charge. 

14.11 Statutory Declaration – Unpaid Penalty Charge 

14.11.1 The Statutory Declaration (Stat Dec) gives the registered keeper a final opportunity 
to deal with the charge, before enforcement officers are instructed to begin 
proceedings.  

14.11.2 The only grounds on which a Statutory Declaration can be made are: 

(a) You did not receive the Notice to Owner (notification of the penalty 
charge). 

(b) You made representations about the Penalty Charge to the issuing 
council, and you did not receive a Rejection Notice. 

(c) You appealed to the Parking Adjudicator against the issuing council’s 
decision to reject your representation but have had no response to your 
appeal. 

(d) If the penalty charge has been paid in full. 

14.11.3 If a Statutory Declaration is filed under a) and accepted by the County Court, the 
PCN process is reset to the Notice to Owner stage and the Notice to Owner is 
issued again. This gives the keeper a further chance to make representation against 
the PCN or to settle the Charge at the original amount.  

14.11.4 If filed under grounds b) or c), the PCN process is reset to pre–Charge Certificate 
and the case may be referred to the Appeals Service for investigation.  

14.11.5 Please be aware that proceedings for contempt of court may be brought against you 

Page 45

Agenda Item 8

https://www.trafficpenaltytribunal.gov.uk/
https://www.trafficpenaltytribunal.gov.uk/


 

 
 
Joint Car Park Management Policy v1.4 20 

 

if you make or cause a false statement to be made in an application verified by a 
statement of truth without an honest belief in its truth. 

14.12 Warrant of Execution Unpaid Penalty Charge  

14.12.1 A Warrant of provides an enforcement agent with the authority to recover the debt. 
The enforcement agent is entitled to include reasonable costs for executing the 
warrant and will accept payment or may remove goods to the required value. 

14.12.2 If you have been contacted by the Enforcement Agents (Bailiffs) but want to 
challenge the penalty, you must now contact the Enforcement Agents directly, as 
the case has progressed to enforcement stage. You may also want to contact 
Citizen’s Advice or a solicitor for advice. 

14.13 If you can’t afford to pay your penalty in full  

The law doesn’t require us to offer a way of paying by instalments and we don’t 
have to offer or agree to an instalment plan but please contact us if you have any 
problems financial problems and we will consider each request on its own merits. 

14.13.1 You must provide us with a full financial breakdown, including information about 
your income and expenditure for us to consider an assessment. Any proposal you 
make must be realistic and reasonable, so that the outstanding sum is paid as 
quickly as possible. 

14.13.2 We may consider passing the outstanding debt to our Enforcement Agents (Bailiffs) 
who can consider an instalment arrangement. But it is important for you to know 
that this will increase the overall amount you owe. 

14.14 The complete parking penalty enforcement process can be found at patrol-
uk.info/docs/process_map.pdf 

 

 

Page 46

Agenda Item 8

https://www.patrol-uk.info/docs/process_map.pdf
https://www.patrol-uk.info/docs/process_map.pdf


 

 
 
Joint Car Park Management Policy v1.4 21 

 

 

15 Appendix D - Common contravention codes explained in 
numerical order 

15.1 The table below identifies the common contravention codes and the level of 

penalty that is given against each code   

Contravention 
Codes 

Description Level 

70 Parked in a loading area during restricted hours without 
reasonable excuse 

Higher 

71 Parked in an electric vehicles’ charging place during 
restricted hours without charging 

Lower 

73 Parked without payment of the parking charge Lower 

74 Using a vehicle in a parking place in connection with the 
sale or offering or exposing for sale of goods when 
prohibited 

Higher 

75 RESERVED FOR LITTERING FROM MOTOR VEHICLES   

77 RESERVED FOR DVLA USE  N/A 

78 Parked wholly or partly in a suspended bay or space Higher 

80 Parked for longer than permitted Lower 

81 Parked in a restricted area in a car park Higher 

82 Parked after the expiry of paid for time Lower 

83 Parked in a car park without clearly displaying a valid pay & 
display ticket or valid pay by phone transaction 

Lower 

84 Parked with payment made to extend the stay beyond initial 
time 

Lower 

85 Parked in a permit bay without clearly displaying a valid 
permit 

Higher 

86 Not parked correctly within the markings of a bay or space Lower 

87 Parked in a disabled person’s parking place without clearly 
displaying a valid disabled person’s badge 

Higher 

89 Vehicle parked exceeds maximum weight and/or height 
and/or length permitted in the area 

Higher 

90 Re-parked in the same Town car (park within one hour after 
leaving 

Lower 

91 Parked in a car park or area not designated for that class of 
vehicle 

Higher 

92 Parked causing an obstruction Higher 

93 Parked in car park when closed Lower 

94 Parked in a pay & display car park without clearly displaying 
two valid pay and display tickets when required 

Lower 

95 Parked in a parking place for a purpose other than that 
designated 

Lower 

96 Parked with engine running where prohibited Lower 

15.2 CODE: 70  

Page 47

Agenda Item 8



 

 
 
Joint Car Park Management Policy v1.4 22 

 

Off-street only - Parked in a loading place or bay during restricted 
hours without loading 

The area will be marked on the surface that it is for loading/delivery purposes 
only. Only vehicles conducting legitimate deliveries may use these spaces.  
CEOs will observe vehicles for ten minutes to check for loading/unloading 
activity. 

15.3 CODE: 80  

Off-street only - Parked for longer than permitted 

Some car parks have a maximum stay, indicated on the car park information 
board, and the pay & display machines, as well as on our website. This code 
is used when someone has stayed longer than the maximum time limit 
indicated.  This code may apply even if you display a valid parking ticket. 
CEOs will check all windows for parking tickets. They will log times they 
observe the vehicle to prove that it has stayed in the car park for longer than 
the permitted time. They will not issue a PCN until at least ten minutes after 
the maximum period has expired. 

15.4 CODE: 81 

Off-street only - Parked in a restricted area in a car park 

Certain car parks have bays or areas, which are not available for general 
parking. For instance, wheelchair bays or hatch markings indicating areas 
should be kept clear for access purposes. This code applies when someone 
parks in the restricted area without permission, even if the vehicle displays a 
valid parking ticket for that car park. 

15.5 CODE: 82 

Off-street only - Parked after the expiry of paid for time 

We use this code if the driver has overstayed the time stated on their 
parking ticket or the time paid for by other means. parking tickets must be 
displayed prominently and clearly in the windscreen of the vehicle. A PCN 
will not be served until at least 10 minutes after the paid for time has 
expired. 

15.6 CODE: 83 

Off-street only - Parked in a car park without clearly displaying a valid 
pay and display ticket or voucher or parking clock 

This code applies when a vehicle is parked in a pay and display car park 
where 

(a) No payment ticket is displayed 

(b) A ticket is displayed but it is not valid for that parking place 

(c) A ticket is obscured/face down and the details cannot be read. 

Motorists are expected to pay for their parking on arrival and display a 
valid ticket (or voucher). No time is allowed to go and get change.  

Before serving a PCN, CEOs will check that the machine is functioning 
correctly and where other means of payment is available that the vehicle 
has not paid for parking in another way through its vehicle registration 

Page 48

Agenda Item 8



 

 
 
Joint Car Park Management Policy v1.4 23 

 

number.  If one pay and display machine is not working motorists must 
use an alternative machine, where one is available, or an alternative 
method of payment such as phone payment.  CEOs will check the vehicle 
for a valid parking ticket, looking at all windows. Parking tickets are not 
transferable between vehicles.  

A ten-minute observation period will be given 

15.7 CODE: 85 

Off-street only - Parked without clearly displaying a valid permit where 
required 

We use this code where a vehicle is parked in a permit bay and 

(a) no permit is displayed 

(b) A permit is displayed but it is not valid for that parking place 

(c) A permit is obscured/face down and the details cannot be read.  

This is an instant contravention, and no observation period is required. 

15.8 CODE: 86 

Off-street only - Not parked correctly within the markings of a bay or 
space 

This code applies when a vehicle is parked partly outside the parking bay 
(one wheel or more out of the bay).  

The CEOs will take photographs to show how the vehicle was parked.  

This is an instant contravention, and no observation period is required. 

15.9 CODE: 87 

Off-street only - Parked in a designated disabled person’s parking place 
without displaying a valid disabled person’s badge in the prescribed 
manner 

We use this code is used when vehicles use designated disabled bays 
without displaying a disabled Blue Badge. Any vehicle using the disabled 
bay must display the Blue Badge (and time clock where the exemption is 
time limited) along with either a valid parking ticket or evidence of the 
vehicle’s tax exemption from the Vehicle Excise Duty as required. 
Regulations vary between car parks and requirements are displayed on the 
car park signs. This is an instant contravention, and no observation period 
is required. 

15.10 CODE: 90 

Off-street only - Re-parked in the same town car park within one hour [or 
other specified time] after leaving 

We use this code if a vehicle returns to car parks in a specific town within 
a specified time. A sign on the entrance and throughout the car park will 
state the no return period. CEOs will record wheel valve positions on first 
and second observations to prove that the vehicle has returned. 

15.11 CODE: 91 

Off-street only - Parked in a car park or area not designated for that class 

Page 49

Agenda Item 8



 

 
 
Joint Car Park Management Policy v1.4 24 

 

of vehicle 

This code applies when the wrong type of vehicle is parked (e.g., a car in a 
coach bay, a car in a motorcycle bay or a coach in a car bay).   

CEOs will take photographs to show the type of vehicle that was parked.  

This is an instant contravention, and no observation period is required. 

15.12 CODE: 92 

Off-street only - Parked causing an obstruction 

We use this code when a vehicle park causes an obstruction. This is more 
serious than code 86. It normally means that other traffic has difficulty 
manoeuvring around the obstruction.  CEOs will take photographs of the 
vehicle causing the obstruction.  

This is an instant contravention, and no observation period is required. 

15.13 CODE: 93 

Off-street only - Parked in car park when closed   

Some car parks are not open all the time and some are closed by a barrier. 
This code applies if cars are left in the car park at a time when it is closed.  
This is an instant contravention, and no observation period is required. 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 50

Agenda Item 8



  

 
 
Joint Car Park Management Policy v1.4 25 

 

15 Appendix E Cancelation Criteria  

FOR CONSIDERING DISPUTES AGAINST THE ISSUING OF PENALTY  CHARGE NOTICES (PCNs) FOR THE VALE OF 
WHITE HORSE DISTRICT COUNCIL AND SOUTH OXFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

Agreed by: Name:  James Carpenter                Title: Head of Development and Corporate Landlord 
 
Date: Updated May 2022  

 

REASON FOR 
DISPUTE 

WHEN TO CANCEL PCN UPHELD 
COMMENTS 

Offence:  all offences 

1. Adverse weather 
conditions 

If vehicle has been abandoned in extreme 
conditions or roads are impassable  

 Examples of extreme weather would be 
snow or flooding or high winds if trees are 
blocking the road 

2. Where more than 
one PCN is issued to 
the same vehicle on 
the same day in 
same location 

All PCNs except for the first offence in the 
same car park within 24 hours 

When the PCN’s have been issued in 
different car parks. 

Only one PCN per 24 hours can be issued 
to a vehicle for a particular car park. 

3. Marked emergency 
service vehicle  

Service provides evidence that the vehicle was 
on official duty 

 Evidence should be on official headed 
paper 

4. Doctor on call, 
district nurses, 
carers and  
midwives 

Proof that the vehicle was left in response to 
an emergency call 

Routine house visits  

Person’s property is next to a car park  

Evidence should be on official headed 
paper 

5. Removal vehicles, 
private ambulances, 
hearses  

Proof that the vehicle was required to be in the 
car park or area 

 Evidence should be on official headed 
paper 

P
age 51

A
genda Item

 8



  

 
 
Joint Car Park Management Policy v1.4 26 

 

REASON FOR 
DISPUTE 

WHEN TO CANCEL PCN UPHELD 
COMMENTS 

6. Information is 
incorrect or 
incomplete on the 
ECN 

Incorrect/incomplete information recorded by 
inspector – this does not apply to wrong make 
of vehicle 

 

 E.g., camera failure or wrong vehicle 
details 

Offence:  no valid ticket and no valid permit 

7. Driver went for 
change  

Driver able to produce a ticket for the relevant 
car park, within ten minutes of vehicle first 
being logged. 

If parked in a permit holder only area. 

 

 

8. Driver claims 
machine was faulty 

 

 

Officers able to verify that the machine was 
faulty. 

Driver incorrectly uses machine and 
perceives a machine fault. 

 

 

Officers will take into account where there 
are known to be intermittent faults from a 
particular machine.  Investigate by 
checking any discrepancies between 
money recorded by machine and actual 
coins in cash box 

9. Driver forgot to buy 
ticket  

In no circumstances,   Signs are clear within the car park, and in 
line with the car park order, ticket must be 
on display 

10. Driver produces 
valid blue badge 

Badge is valid for the time the PCN was issued 
or confirmation from OCC blue badge 
department that a badge application had been 
approved at the time 

  

11. Driver didn’t read or 
is unable to read 
signs 

In no circumstances Claims unable to read English.  Drivers 
should have sufficient language/ 
knowledge to understand the highway 
code. 

Help on writing a dispute may be given if 
the person’s first language is not English 
or if they have other problems with writing 

P
age 52

A
genda Item

 8



  

 
 
Joint Car Park Management Policy v1.4 27 

 

REASON FOR 
DISPUTE 

WHEN TO CANCEL PCN UPHELD 
COMMENTS 

12. Valid ticket produced 
with registration 
number on the ticket 

All first offences 

 

Any subsequent PCN within one year 
of first PCN being issued for the same 
offence 

 

13. Driver claims that 
signs were not 
visible 

Inspector agrees that the view of the sign/s 
was obstructed at the time when the PCN was 
issued 

  

14. Vehicle broken down 

 

 

 

The driver must provide proof that they bought 
a ticket and also proof that they were not able 
to access the vehicle if the ticket is not 
displayed.   

 

 

 Not able to access vehicle, for example 
electrical fault or lost key. 

If the driver informs the office to say they 
are unable to move the vehicle, then 
officers insist they must still purchase a 
ticket for their duration (meter feed if 
necessary or if short term car park).  They 
then would supply this ticket in the event 
of getting an PCN 

15. Permit fallen off 
windscreen or 
dashboard or not 
visible 

On first dispute if we know that a valid permit 
has been issued to the person  

 

Any subsequent dispute (where permit 
is not clearly visible) relating to the 
same permit or vehicle within one 
calendar year of the first PCN being 
issued  

Must still dispute in writing, email 
acceptable.  Staff, councilors, and public 
all treated the same. 

16. Vehicle stolen and 
abandoned in car 
park 

Driver able to provide proof, e.g. crime report. 

Police left vehicle in car park following an 
arrest 

 Proof must be on official headed paper 

17. Driver produces 
valid day permit 

Driver is able to produce valid day permit for 
relevant car park and that he was obtaining it 
around the time the PCN was issued.  Proof 
obtained from issuer 

When 24-hour period is exceeded. 

If the permit has been tampered with, 
e.g., dates changed. 

Permits must be filled in correctly with pen 
or ink, no photocopies are accepted. 

 

P
age 53

A
genda Item

 8



  

 
 
Joint Car Park Management Policy v1.4 28 

 

REASON FOR 
DISPUTE 

WHEN TO CANCEL PCN UPHELD 
COMMENTS 

18. Driver produces 
double issue ticket 
stub, receipt ticket or 
cash back ticket 
(relating to some 
supermarkets) 

Driver produces a receipt ticket with 
registration number  

 

 

  

19. Driver produces a 
ticket showing 
registration of 
another family 
vehicle  

Mistakenly entered the registration of another 
family vehicle and the driver can produce proof 
that they own the two vehicles  

Driver produces a ticket from a 
registration machine that does not 
match the registration number on the 
PCN and cannot prove they own two 
vehicles.  

 

20. Driver produces a 
ticket but it does not 
exactly match the 
vehicle registration 
plate 

If the ticket displayed is not the exact vehicle 
registration but is correct if numbers/letters 
transposed or up to two letters or numbers 
wrong.  One strike per calendar year from 
issue of PCN – provide written warning. 

The ticket that the driver produces is 
not the exact vehicle registration and 
the PCN is issued within one year of a 
written warning on this issue. 

When records show that the driver 
obtained a ticket/payment by other 
methods with the correct registration 
details prior to the PCN being issued 
and has deliberately transposed the 
registration details to enable meter 
feeding  

 

 

 

 

21. Driver produces 
cashless 
receipt/claims to 
have paid via 
cashless method 

When cashless receipt is for correct car park 
but shows a different vehicle and driver 
produces registration document &/or back 
office cashless system confirms ownership of 
both vehicles.  

When receipt is produced for correct car park 

When cashless receipt is for car park 
owned by another authority. 

The council will cancel all first offences 
within one calendar year 

P
age 54

A
genda Item

 8



  

 
 
Joint Car Park Management Policy v1.4 29 

 

REASON FOR 
DISPUTE 

WHEN TO CANCEL PCN UPHELD 
COMMENTS 

and correct car. 

When driver produces valid cashless receipt 
showing correct paid tariff but wrong location. 

22. Driver/passenger 
becomes ill or stops 
to assist a person 
(doesn’t have time to 
get or display ticket) 

If official proof can be provided.  

(e.g. confirmation from a 
shop/office/paramedic/first-aider/doctor) 

Unable to accept a letter from a friend, 
relative or work colleague to support 
dispute 

 

23. Driver purchases a 
second ticket e.g. 
has not left the car 
park for the required 
time (no return 
period)  

 

 

When previously agreed with the office e.g. if 
broken down 

Driver can prove that he has moved vehicle for 
the allowed time 

 

If the vehicle has left the car park but 
another member of the family uses the 
same car park within the no return 
period. 

Having bought and displayed a first ticket, 
if driver displays second ticket which 
takes him over the maximum stay period 
and has not left the car park for the 
required time, then the second ticket is 
not valid and an PCN is issued. 

Even if the vehicle has left the car park 
and returns with another driver, the PCN 
is still upheld.   

It is acceptable to buy a ticket and then 
come back and buy a further ticket as 
long as the total stay is no longer than the 
maximum stay period.  This does not 
apply to free tickets/periods. 

24. Service vehicles, 
emergency call-out 
vehicles, 
gas/electrical/alarm 
companies 

Driver is able to provide timed and dated 
evidence that the work was being carried out 
as a health and safety emergency at a 
particular premises. 

  

 

 

 P
age 55

A
genda Item

 8



  

 
 
Joint Car Park Management Policy v1.4 30 

 

REASON FOR 
DISPUTE 

WHEN TO CANCEL PCN UPHELD 
COMMENTS 

Pay and display ticket expired 

25. Driver/passenger 
becomes ill or stops 
to assist a person 

If official proof can be provided.  

(Confirmation from a 
shop/office/paramedic/first-aider/doctor) 

Unable to accept a letter from a friend, 
relative or work colleague to support 
dispute 

 

26. Driver delayed in 
returning to car park 

 

 

Where a driver has attempted to purchase 
sufficient parking time but was then unable to 
return to the vehicle for the following reasons: 

 unable to leave court hearing. 

 arrested 

 medical circumstances 

 

Where a driver is delayed for reasons 
beyond or not beyond their control, 
where more parking time should have 
been allowed, e.g.:  

 attending interview  

 arranging/attending funeral 

 attending meetings 

 voluntary work 

Driver will need to provide evidence of 
delay before cancellation is considered  

 

Long term medical condition does not 
prevent the proper use of the car park 

27. Driver produces 
valid ticket 

Where a machine issues a faulty ticket 

Medical emergency 

Proven police involvement or other similar 
event 

In all other circumstances  

28. Two tickets 
purchased at the 
same time – driver 
adds together to 
accumulate required 
parking period 
(Machine did not 
accept all the money 
paid at the time of 
purchasing a ticket)   

When the car park inspector has taken photos 
of two tickets side by side on the dashboard  
which add up to the correct time/value required 
or cover the issue time of the PCN 

If both tickets are registration linked and 
purchased within ten minutes of each other 

  

P
age 56

A
genda Item

 8



  

 
 
Joint Car Park Management Policy v1.4 31 

 

REASON FOR 
DISPUTE 

WHEN TO CANCEL PCN UPHELD 
COMMENTS 

29. Driver claims to have 
paid for part of a 
tariff or over the tariff 

In no circumstances  

 

An example of a part tariff payment would 
be where a tariff is:  

50p for 1 hr and 90p for 2 hrs.  

Driver attempts to pay 70p for 1½ hrs  

 

Permit not valid for this car park 

30. Permit holder 
unaware where to 
park.   

Unable to access the car park (flooding, 
travellers).  Event in town 

None Non payment of PCNs by staff /councillors 
pursued in the same way as all public.   

31. Permit holder parked 
in wrong car park 

 Permit holder unaware of correct area 
or pleads ignorance or mistake or 
someone else outside the car park 
team told them where to park 

Members of staff or councillors saying 
they were delivering items to the 
council 

Permits or season tickets exist for all long 
stay car parks.  All permits are car park 
specific 

There is a delivery area to the side of 
Abbey House 

32. Driver displays an 
on-street parking 
permit/ticket 

 

 

 

In no circumstances  Need to explain to drivers that 
tickets/permits are not transferable 
between council off-street car parks and 
Town Council on-street parking areas. 

An arrangement has been made with the 
Abingdon Town Council to allow residents 
with a valid town council permit to park in 
a Vale Council car park from 6pm until 
9am the next day 

P
age 57

A
genda Item

 8



  

 
 
Joint Car Park Management Policy v1.4 32 

 

REASON FOR 
DISPUTE 

WHEN TO CANCEL PCN UPHELD 
COMMENTS 

33. Unaware of the 
correct area to park 

Where parking in the permit only area is 
unavoidable due to maintenance work being 
carried out in pay and display car park and 
signs are displayed indicating that this is 
acceptable 

Where there is no exceptional 
circumstances/ignorance 

Parking in a permit only area would be 
clearly signed and the car park team must 
be aware 

 

 

Offence:  non display of disabled badge 

34. Driver states they 
have a valid blue 
badge  

If the badge produced is valid at the time the 
PCN was issued.  

Where the terms of the disabled badge 
scheme are not met 

Further similar offences within one 
calendar year of first PCN 

The council will cancel all first offences 
within one calendar year, sending the 
badge owner a warning letter stating that 
subsequent offences may not cancelled 

35. Driver claims that an 
application has been 
made 

Proof that the application has been made, prior 
to the issuing of the PCN, and if the disabled 
badge is subsequently issued 

If proof cannot be provided  

Offence:  vehicle exceeds weight limit 

36. Driver challenges 
weight of vehicle 

Driver is able to produce evidence that the 
vehicle does not exceed the stipulated weight 

 

 

 

Inspectors are given guidance on the 
assumed weight of vehicles, but it will be 
impossible for inspectors to be definitive 

Offence:  vehicle not parked wholly within a bay 

Offence:  unauthorised parking 

37. Driver claims 
unaware of this 
offence 

Signs unclear or missing  

 

Examples of unauthorised areas include: 

 yellow lines/boxes 

P
age 58

A
genda Item

 8



  

 
 
Joint Car Park Management Policy v1.4 33 

 

REASON FOR 
DISPUTE 

WHEN TO CANCEL PCN UPHELD 
COMMENTS 

  circulation areas 

 motorcycle bays 

 car park access roadways 

 recycling areas (other than to 
unload recycling) 

38. Driver delivering or 
collecting goods 

 

 

Driver is able to provide a dated and timed 
delivery note, invoice etc. (on headed paper) 
showing that he was delivering or collecting 
large/bulky goods that require that vehicle to 
be close by.  Applies to permit holder’s car 
parks only.  The vehicle must be immediately 
adjacent to the premises and (un)loading must 
be a continuous operation. 

Driver is unable to provide proof that 
they were delivering/collecting.   

Driver did not remove vehicle when 
delivery completed. 

  

 

Offence:  exceeded maximum stay (e.g. Wheatley) 

39. Left car park and 
returned later 

Driver able to provide proof that they left the 
car park and returned after the no return 
restriction   

 

Driver is unable to provide proof that 
they left the car park.  

CEOs carry out ‘write downs’ of vehicles 
to provide evidence that the vehicle has 
not moved.  This includes times, number 
plate and parking bay location details 

40. Driver/passenger 
becomes ill or stops 
to assist a person 

If official proof can be provided.  

(Confirmation from a 
shop/office/paramedic/first-aider) 

 Similar reasoning to overstay of pay and 
display ticket 

41. Driver delayed in 
returning to car park 

 

 

Where a driver was unable to return to the 
vehicle for the following reasons: 

 unable to leave court hearing. 

 arrested 

 Driver will need to provide evidence of 
delay before cancellation is considered  

Long term medical condition does not 
prevent the proper use of the car park 

P
age 59

A
genda Item

 8



  

 
 
Joint Car Park Management Policy v1.4 34 

 

REASON FOR 
DISPUTE 

WHEN TO CANCEL PCN UPHELD 
COMMENTS 

 medical circumstances 

42. Vehicle broken down 

 

 

 

The driver must provide proof that they bought 
a ticket and also proof that they were not able 
to access the vehicle if the ticket is not 
displayed.   

 

 

 Not able to access vehicle, for example 
electrical fault or lost key. 

If the driver informs the office to say they 
are unable to move the vehicle, then 
officers insist they must still purchase a 
ticket for their duration (meter feed 
necessary or if short term car park).  They 
then would supply this ticket in the event 
of getting an PCN. 

43. Vehicle stolen and 
abandoned in car 
park 

 

Driver able to provide proof, e.g. crime report. 

 

Police left vehicle in car park following an 
arrest. 

 Proof must be on official headed paper 

Offence:  no return within two hours 

 

44. Visit was 
unavoidable 

Driver able to provide proof of their return due 
to medical conditions/dental work/returning 
faulty goods/getting prescriptions.   

Driver is unable to provide proof that 
they were collecting or returning to the 
car parks for legitimate reasons. 

 

45. Driver needed to 
move to collect 
heavy goods 

 

 

 

Driver is able to provide a dated and timed 
delivery note, invoice etc (on headed paper) 
showing that he was collecting large/bulky 
goods that require that vehicle to be close by.   

Driver is able to provide receipt of the heavy 
goods purchased i.e. large bag of pet 
food/sack of potatoes. 

Driver is unable to provide proof that 
they were collecting.   

Driver did not remove vehicle when 
delivery completed. 

 

 

P
age 60

A
genda Item

 8



 

 
 
Joint Car Park Management Policy v1.4 35 

 

16 Appendix F Considerations of a formal representation 
against the serving of a PCN: 

16.1 That the alleged contravention did not occur. 

16.1.1 This is likely to be the most common ground people will cite when 
submitting a challenge/dispute. It includes cases where:  

(a) A vehicle was allegedly loading or unloading in accordance with a 
Traffic Regulation Order (TRO), where a PCN was allegedly served 
too early, or where a vehicle was allegedly displaying a valid permit, 
ticket, voucher, Badge, etc. 

(b) The recipient never was the owner of the vehicle in question.  

(c) The recipient had ceased to be its owner before the date on which 
the alleged contravention occurred; or became its owner after that 
date. 

16.1.2 Where a recipient makes representation under the (b) or (c) 
circumstances above, they are legally obliged to include a statement 
including the name and address of the person who acquired the vehicle 
from them who (or from whom it was acquired, as the case may be), if that 
information is in their possession. 

16.1.3 That the vehicle had been permitted to remain at rest in the place in 
question by a person who was in control of the vehicle without the consent 
of the owner. This ground for representation covers stolen vehicles and 
vehicles used without the owner's consent but which were not stolen. It 
may apply in limited circumstances where a vehicle was being used by a 
member of the owner's family without the owner's express consent, such 
as where the family member has no permission to use the vehicle and has 
taken the keys without the owner’s knowledge. 

16.1.4 That the recipient is a vehicle-hire firm and the vehicle in question was at 
the material time hired from that firm under a vehicle hiring agreement; 
and the person hiring it had signed a statement of liability acknowledging 
their liability in respect of any PCN served in respect of any contravention 
involving the vehicle. 

16.1.5 Under this situation the Secretary of State suggests that the Notice to 
Owner (NTO) requests that the hire-firm should provide the name and 
address of the person hiring the vehicle at the material time and a copy of 
the statement of liability. This information should be used to issue a 
second NtO, on the person hiring the vehicle (who shall be deemed to be 
the owner of the vehicle for the purposes of processing the PCN). 

16.2 That the council has made a procedural error or impropriety. 

16.2.1 The regulations define a procedural impropriety as a failure of the local 
authority to observe any requirement imposed on them by the Traffic 
Management Act (TMA) or the TMA regulations in relation to the 
imposition or recovery of a penalty charge or other sums. This includes, in 
particular, the taking of any step, whether involving the service of a 
document and the purported service of a Charge Certificate in advance of 

Page 61

Agenda Item 8



 

 
 
Joint Car Park Management Policy v1.4 36 

 

the time scale set out in the regulations. 

16.2.2 This will also be ground for a representation against a PCN that has 
been served if a fixed penalty notice, as defined by section 52 of the 
Road Traffic Offenders Act 1988, has been given in respect of conduct or 
the conduct constituting a parking contravention that is the subject of 
criminal proceedings. This is only likely to be the case on or near 
pedestrian crossings. 

16.3 That the Order which is alleged to have been contravened is invalid 

16.3.1 This ground for representation includes cases where the wording of a 
Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) is deficient or contradictory. This could be 
if the TRO is not properly indicated with traffic signs or road markings, or 
the traffic signs or road markings are not in order, or where the restriction 
marked on the street goes beyond what is provided for in the TRO and so 
the TRO is unenforceable (rather than invalid) and so cannot be 
contravened. 

16.3.2 In the case where a PCN was served by post on the basis that a CEO 
cites that they were prevented by some person from fixing the PCN to the 
vehicle concerned or handing it to the keeper or person in charge of the 
vehicle, that they were not prevented from doing so and could have 
carried out the action. 

16.3.3 That the NtO should not have been served because the penalty charge 
had already been paid in full or by the amount reduced by any discount 
set within the period set. 

16.3.4 In addition, we will consider reasonable mitigating circumstances that do 
not fall into the above categories.  

 

Page 62

Agenda Item 8



Document is Restricted

Page 63

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	7 Active communities strategy
	Appendix 1 - Active Communities Strategy

	8 Car park order and policy
	Appendix C - Joint Car Park Management Policy

	10 Minutes

